Shyamal Chowdhury Jane Mariara Michael Murigi Uttam Sharma Munshi Sulaiman An impact assessment of EAMDA's banana initiative to increase technology adoption by smallholder farmers in Kenya

June 2023

Impact Evaluation Report 138

Agriculture



About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) promotes evidence-informed, equitable, inclusive and sustainable development. We support the generation and effective use of high-quality evidence to inform decision-making and improve the lives of people living in poverty in low- and middle-income countries. We provide guidance and support to produce, synthesise and quality assure evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost.

3ie impact evaluations

3ie-supported impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to funding rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design and that use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes and are useful in complex development contexts.

About this report

3ie accepted the final version of the report, *An impact assessment of EAMDA's banana initiative to increase technology adoption by smallholder farmers in Kenya*, under grant TW4.1018 awarded through Agricultural Innovation Evidence Program. The report is technically sound and 3ie is making it available to the public in this final report version as it was received. No further work has been done.

The 3ie technical quality assurance team for this report comprises Mark Engelbert, Deeksha Ahuja, Diana López-Avila, Sayak Khatua, Stuti Tripathi, with overall technical supervision by Sebastian Martinez. The 3ie editorial production team for this report comprises Tanvi Lal and Akarsh Gupta.

All of the content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors and omissions are also the sole responsibility of the authors. Authors' affiliations listed in the title page are those that were in effect at the time the report was accepted.

3ie received funding for the Agricultural Innovation Evidence Programme from Alliance for Green Revolution in Africa, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, the International Fund for Agricultural Development and the UK Department for International Development. A complete listing of all of 3ie's donors is available on the <u>3ie website</u>.

Suggested citation: Chowdhury, S, Mariara J, Murigi, M, Sharma, U, and Sulaiman M 2022. *An impact assessment of EAMDA's banana initiative to increase technology adoption by smallholder farmers in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 138. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Available at: https://doi.org/10.23846/TW4IE138

Badges earned: Open Data 🏼 🕕



Open Materials 👩

The data and replication files are available through: https://doi.org/10.7910/DVN/H4LTHR Cover photo: K.Trautmann / CGIAR-Flickr

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2022

An impact assessment of EAMDA's banana initiative to increase technology adoption by smallholder farmers in Kenya

Shyamal Chowdhury School of Economics, University of Sydney, Australia

Jane Mariara University of Nairobi, Kenya

Michael Murigi University of Nairobi, Kenya

Uttam Sharma Institute for Social and Environmental Research Nepal (ISER-N), Nepal

Munshi Sulaiman Brac Institute of Governance and Development, Bangladesh

> Impact Evaluation Report 138 June 2023



Acknowledgements

This is an updated version of the 2019 report using data from a new survey conducted in December 2019 and January 2020. We acknowledge the generous support received from 3ie and AGRA in implementing the project. The East Africa Market Development Association (EAMDA) as the implementing agency have made significant contributions in completing the research. The analysis has benefitted from many comments on presentations of the findings at workshops conducted in February 2018, February and November 2019 in Nairobi, and Kirinyaga county. The study received research permits from the National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation (NACOSTI/P/18/40784/24851) and ethics approval from the University of Sydney (project # 2015/618), and was registered at AEARCTR (#0002579). All views are expressed are those of authors.

Summary

Improving the productivity of smallholder farmers is a critical policy priority in most of the developing world due to its direct links to food security and economic growth. The adoption of advanced technologies for improving farm productivity is widely accepted as an important means of increasing farmers' and national income. Kenya is no different, with 73% of its population living in rural areas, and agriculture functioning as the primary source of livelihood. However, the contribution of the agricultural sector to GDP growth fell from 23.9 percent in 2001-2012 to 21.9 percent in 2013-2017. At the national level, the number of people working in agriculture has been increasing, and the sector accounted for about 37% of total employment in 2017. This increase in the number of people relying on agriculture and the decline in productivity makes the adoption of new technologies extremely critical for the country.

Bananas are consumed both as a fruit and as cooked food in Kenya, and they are an important source of carbohydrates, essential vitamins and minerals. The Kenya Population and Housing Census (2019) shows that over 2.1 million households are currently growing bananas in the country. However, a large majority (84%) of them are smallholder farmers with plots of less than 0.2 hectares. Moreover, smallholder farmers are more likely to be women. In recent years, the Kenyan government and development partners have tried to increase banana cultivation by smallholder farmers in Kenya in order to improve their food security. According to the FAOSTAT database, the area used for banana production has increased from 50 thousand hectares to 72 thousand hectares between 2011 and 2018. However, total banana production in the country has only increased from 1.2 million tonnes to 1.4 million tonnes during the same period, indicating declines in yield. Improving the productivity of banana plantations thus continues to be a priority in Kenya, and promoting the adoption of tissue culture banana (TCB) and related farming practices has been identified as one of the means of increasing farmers' productivity in Kenya.

The interventions that we have evaluated under this project are part of the Farmer Organization Support Centre in Africa (FOSCA), which was initiated by the Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA) to strengthen the capacity of Farmers' Organizations. The project, titled "Building a competitive export banana industry in Kenya", was implemented by East Africa Market Development Associates (EAMDA) and targeted about 11,000 farmers in Kirinyaga county. In this study, we assess the impacts of this program in the short run (6 months post-intervention) and up to 32 months postintervention. EAMDA promoted the cultivation of modern banana varieties and TCB plantlets by providing information on the benefits of this technology and associated agronomic practices. A randomized controlled trial (RCT) was implemented to measure the impacts of information-sharing and a goal-setting intervention on farmers' adoption of TCB, banana productivity and household income. In addition, we measured the spillover effects on farmers who live in the treatment villages but did not receive the training. We adopt two different means of measuring spillover effects: a) varying the intensity of intervention whereby different proportions of farmers in the treatment villages are provided with the training, and b) comparing the social network of the non-treated farmers with the treated farmers. For the goal-setting intervention, we implemented a "behavioural nudge" with half of those in the treatment group. The selected farmers were asked about their intentions to use TCB. Those who reported being interested in using TCB were then asked to make a basic plan of when, from where and how many plantlets they would buy.

This report is based on four rounds of survey data. The first round (baseline) was collected before the intervention to measure the baseline condition. The second (midline), third (endline 1), and fourth (endline 2) rounds of surveys were conducted after 6 months, 18 months and 32 months of intervention implementation, respectively. We find that information dissemination through EAMDA's training increased farmers' adoption of TCB by 4 percentage points (pp) by the midline, which increased by another 9 pp at endline 1 for those farmers who also took part in the goal-setting exercise. Surprisingly, we see a large positive effect of an increase of 30 percentage points at endline 2. This large late effect suggests possible learning effects from early adopters in the treatment villages. At endline 2, we observe a large reallocation of land from other crops to banana plants as well as higher spending on banana cultivation The magnitude of the impact on land use for banana cultivation is high (almost 10 decimal) and about 75% higher than the control group average at endline 2. This reallocation resulted in a drop in income from non-banana crops. However, though the negative effects on total income were observed at both endline 1 and 2, it was only statistically significant at endline 2. There were some indications of spillover effects on farmers who did not receive the training but reside in the treatment villages. However, it appears that the possible learning effect that created the late adoption of TCB is limited to the treatment group only. While the goal-setting intervention had a short-term impact on TCB adoption (the marginal effect during endline 1 was over 5pp), there is no significant marginal effect of this intervention by endline 2.

This quantitative approach is complemented by a qualitative study that was conducted before the endline 1 survey. The qualitative study found that both treatment and control farmers acknowledged that the cultivation of traditional bananas is declining, while the uptake of modern and TCB varieties is increasing. They cited land and water shortages (e.g. due to a lack of irrigation facilities) as the most critical barriers to the adoption of TCB varieties. Though there is gender parity in banana production and commercialization, youth participation is limited due to factors such as land shortage. Farmers who participated in various training sessions reported that their agricultural needs concerning banana farming were largely addressed. However, though they adopted TC bananas with an expectation of higher income, this was not realized due to the severe drought that was experienced in the area. This aligned with the quantitative component that shows that the total income for the farmer households did not significantly increase at endline 1.

Overall, the study finds that information provided through training can have positive effects on technology adoption. In addition, a simple behavioural intervention—whereby farmers set specific goals to adopt new technologies— can significantly increase adoption. Therefore, this type of goal setting can easily be made a part of farmers' training. However, the effects of technology adoption on well-being are less clear and primarily depend on the economic value of the technology being promoted. TCB does not seem to be economically rewarding in the short to medium term. Therefore, it is of paramount importance to conduct proper economic returns analyses and to measure returns in the long run before scaling up any interventions to promote new technology. The other major consideration for promoting this technology is access to irrigation, and it would be prudent to only promote TCB to farmers who have reasonable access to irrigation.

Contents

Acknowledgements	i
Summary	
List of figures and tables	
1. Introduction	
2. Intervention, theory of change and research hypotheses	
2.1 Interventions	
2.2 Theory of change and research hypothesis	
3. Context	
4. Evaluation: Design, data and analysis method	
4.1 Experiment design	
4.2 Data	
4.3 Comparability at baseline	
4.4 Intervention compliance with randomization	
4.5 Analysis method	
5. Programme or policy: Design, methods and implementation	
6. Timeline	
7. Impact results	
7.1 Intention to treat (ITT) effects	
7.2 Impact by the intensity of interventions	
7.3 Social network and spillover effects	
7.4 Heterogeneity of impact	
7.5 Main findings from the qualitative study	
8. Discussion	
9. Specific findings for policy and practice	
Appendix A: Supplementary Analysis	
Appendix B: Survey instruments	
Appendix C: Pre-analysis plan	
Appendix D: Sample size and power calculations	
Appendix E: Implementation monitoring	
Appendix F: Qualitative assessment	
Appendix G: Midline impact paper	
Appendix H: Map of study location	
Appendix I: Cost data for the programme implementation	
Appendix J: .do files.	
References	47

List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Agriculture sector employment in Kenya	1
Figure 2: Theory of change for the project	5
Figure 3: Theory of change for goal setting intervention	6
Figure 4: Randomization design	9
Figure 5: Visualizing study sample groups1	0
Figure 6: Compliance with randomization for EAMDA training	3
Figure 7: Study timeline1	6
Figure 8: Proportion of farmers doing banana cultivation	7
Figure 9: Intensity dummy and impact of training on technology adoption at endline 22	24
Table 1: Study sample by intervention groups1	
Table 2: Impact estimates for outcomes related to banana cultivation at endline 2 1	8
Table 3: Impact estimates for outcomes related to adoption of farming practices at	
endline 21	9
Table 4: Impact estimates for outcomes related to banana production at endline 22	
Table 5: Impact estimates for outcomes related to banana marketing at endline 22	
Table 6: Impact estimates on household income and expenditure at endline 2	22
Table 7: Intensity of intervention and impacts on banana cultivation at endline 22	23
Table 8: Association between social network with treatment groups and outcome	
indicators2	24

1. Introduction

Adoption of advanced technologies for improving farm productivity is widely accepted as an important means of increasing farmers' and national income. Kenya is no different with 73% of its population living in rural areas and agriculture functioning as the primary source of livelihood. However, the contribution of the agriculture sector to real GDP growth fell from 23.9 percent in 2001-2012 to 21.9 percent in 2013-2017 (World Bank, 2019). At the national level, the number of working people in agriculture has been increasing and the sector accounted for about 37% of total employment in 2017(Figure 1). This increase in the number of people relying on agriculture and the decline in productivity makes adoption of new technologies extremely important for the country.



Figure 1: Agriculture sector employment in Kenya

In Kenya, bananas are consumed both as a fruit as well as a cooked food, and they are an important source of carbohydrates, essential vitamins and minerals. The Kenya Population and Housing Census - 2019 (KPHC, 2019) shows that over 2.1 million households are currently growing bananas in the country. However, a large majority (84%) of them are smallholder farmers with plots of less than 0.2 hectares (D'Alessandro et al, 2015). Moreover, smallholder farmers are more likely to be women (ibid). In recent years, there have been efforts by the government and development partners to increase banana cultivation by smallholder farmers in Kenya in order to improve their food security situation. According to the FAOSTAT database, the area used for banana production has increased from 50 thousand hectares to 72 thousand hectares between 2011 and 2018. However, total banana production in the country only increased from 1.2 million tonnes to 1.4 million tonnes during the same period, indicating declines in yield. Therefore, improving the productivity of banana plantations continues to be a priority in the country.

There are many important barriers to technology adoption and not adopting a particular technology is often the optimal decision for farmers. For example, Suri (2011) provides evidence of heterogeneity among farmers that influence them not to adopt a new technology either because the adoption is not economically viable due to its low productivity, or due to the high cost associated with adopting the technology. Many studies have looked at the impacts of different agricultural interventions on adoption decisions and productivity. In their evidence gap map on agricultural innovations, Lopez-Avila et al (2017) find that the evaluations of technology adoptions are concentrated on the impacts of input provisions and practices on productivity. They also note a lack of evidence on spillover effects. The evidence points to the existence of real barriers to adoption that include lack of information, lack of access to inputs, credit constraints to purchasing inputs, or limited markets for selling crops. There are also behavioural constraints (such as procrastination) whereby the farmers fail to adopt a profitable technology even though they are willing to adopt it. In this study, we assess how countering specific barriers to adopting tissue culture banana (TCB) that can potentially improve productivity among smallholder banana growers. However, adoption of the technology in Kenya is limited due to both limited awareness about the benefits and the changes in farming practices associated with the technology by smallholder farmers (Kabunga et al, 2012).

In this study, we assess the impacts of a programme of EAMDA in Kirinyaga county up to 32 months post-intervention. EAMDA promotes banana cultivation, especially the modern varieties and TCB plantlets, by providing information on the benefits of this technology and associated agronomic practices. A randomized control trial (RCT) was implemented to measure the impacts of information sharing and goal setting interventions on farmers' adoption of TCB, banana productivity and household income. In addition, we intend to measure the spillover effects on farmers in the treatment villages who do not receive the training. We adopt two different means of measuring spillover effects: a) varying the intensity of intervention whereby different proportions of farmers in the treatment villages are provided with the training, and b) measuring the social network of the non-treated farmers with the treated farmers. Finally, we initiate a "behavioural nudge" with half of the treatment group farmers to assess whether setting goals of buying TCB leads to adoption of TCB in their farms.

This report is based on four rounds of survey data. The first round (baseline) was collected before the intervention to measure the baseline condition. The second (midline), third (endline 1) and fourth (endline 2) rounds of surveys were conducted after 6 months, 18 months and 32 months of intervention implementation, respectively. We find that information dissemination through EAMDA's training increased farmers' adoption of TCB by 4 percentage points (pp) by midline, which increased by another 9 pp at endline 1 for those farmers who also took part in the goal-setting exercise. Surprisingly, we see a large positive effect of an increase of 30 percentage points at endline 2. This large late effect suggests possible learning effects from early adopters in the treatment villages. Consequently, there is a large reallocation of cultivable land to more banana cultivation from other crops and more spending on banana cultivation observed at endline 2. The magnitude of impact on land use for banana cultivation is high (almost 10 decimal) and about 75% higher than the control group average at endline 2. This reallocation resulted in a drop in income from non-banana crops.

Although measured imprecisely and not statistically significant in the first follow-up survey, we find negative effects on total income persisting even at endline 2. There were some indications of spillover effects on farmers who did not receive the training but reside in the treatment village. However, it appears that the possible learning effect that created late adoption in TCB is limited to the treatment group only. While the goal setting intervention had a short-term impact on TCB adoption (the marginal effect during endline 1 was over 5pp), there was no significant difference in the impact of this intervention by endline 2.

This quantitative approach is complemented by a qualitative study that was conducted before the endline 1 survey. The qualitative study found that both treatment and control farmers acknowledged that the cultivation of traditional bananas is declining, while uptake of modern and TC varieties is increasing. They cited land and water shortage (lack of irrigation facilities) as the most critical barriers to adoption of TC varieties. Though there is gender parity in banana production and marketing groups, youth participation is limited due to factors such as land shortage. Farmers who participated in various training sessions agreed that their agricultural needs concerning banana farming were largely addressed. However, though they adopted TC bananas with an expectation of higher income, this was not realized due to the severe drought that was experienced in the area. This aligned with the quantitative component that shows that the total income for the farmer households did not significantly increase at endline 1.

Overall, the study finds that information provided through training can have positive effects on technology adoption. In addition, a simple behavioural intervention - whereby the farmers set specific goals to adopt a new technology – can significantly increase adoption. Therefore, this type of goal setting can easily be made a part of farmers' training. However, the effects of the technology adoption on wellbeing are less clear and primarily dependent on the economic value of the technology being promoted. TCB does not seem to be economically rewarding in the short to medium term. It is, therefore, of paramount importance to conduct proper economic returns analyses and to measure return in the longer term before scaling up any efforts to promote technology adoption. The other major consideration for promoting this technology is access to irrigation, and it would be prudent to only promote TCB to farmers who have reasonable access to irrigation.

2. Intervention, theory of change and research hypotheses

2.1 Interventions

The programme we evaluate was implemented by the East Africa Market Development Associates (EAMDA), which is a consulting firm for enterprise development and business coaching. The intervention received financial support from the Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA). The EAMDA's farmers' training covered good agronomical practices in banana farming. These included land preparation and planting, the management of banana pests and diseases, improving banana productivity and postharvest handling. Although the EAMDA has also organized farmers for collective marketing of bananas in the past, in recent years they have been relying on the private sector to fill this gap rather than providing direct marketing support. The training intervention was rolled out by inviting the selected farmers to attend the training 2-3 days prior to the training date. The training sessions were conducted in the community and involved a trainer from the EAMDA providing the relevant information. Each session lasted for 3-4 hours and only one session was held for each community. Besides sharing information on the benefits of TCB and better farming practices, the farmers were encouraged to ask questions and have discussions on mitigating their constraints to adopting TCB. Overall, the training intervention was relatively "low touch". However, feedback from the enumerators who conducted the surveys and qualitative interviews suggested that some farmers may have anticipated receiving marketing services following training even though the EAMDA did not plan to provide such support.

In addition to this training, a "goal setting" intervention was provided to a random sample of half of the farmers who participated in the EAMDA training. The goal setting exercise involved calling farmers over phone or through a household visit by research assistants to help them in making plans for purchasing TCB. They were asked questions regarding their preparedness for the purchase of TCB plantlets in the next planting seasons. Specifically, the selected farmers were asked whether they were planning to use TCB for their banana cultivation. The farmers who responded positively were asked to share their plans on how many plantlets they wanted to purchase, when and from where they wanted to purchase the plantlets, the cost they estimated for the purchase and how they planned to source the money.

2.2 Theory of change and research hypothesis

The theory of change for this evaluation is relatively simple wherein two specific constraints (viz. information and behavioural) in adopting new technologies -TCB and farm management practices related to banana cultivation- are addressed by two interventions (Figure 2). While the training intervention addresses the information constraint, the goal setting intervention addresses the behavioural constraint (such as procrastination) in taking actions as per one's intention (Figure 3).

In addition, our research also considers actions by neighbouring farmers in technology adoption. Neighbouring farmers' adoption decisions can influence farmers to either adopt or delay adopting technologies (e.g., Bandiera and Rasul, 2006). On the one hand, if the farmers anticipate that they will share information with others, we expect farmers to be more likely to adopt a new technology when they know many other farmers in their neighbourhood are doing so. Conversely, when farmers want to be strategic, they can delay adoption and wait to observe the output/returns to adoption by the neighbouring farmers. In fact, Bandiera and Rasul (2006) find evidence of an inverted-U shape relationship between a farmer's probability of technology adoption and the number of farmers in their network who adopt the same technology.

F	actors in adop	otion decision	S					
Lack of information	Behavioura	l constraint	Neighbouring farmers' actions					
	Interve	entions						
Training	Goal s	etting	Share of farmers trained					
	Adop	otion						
Allocate more land for banana cultivation	Use o	f TCB	Improved farming practices					
	Outco	omes						
Banana productivity	Sales of	banana	Income from banana					
Secondary outcomes								
Total household inco	me	Но	usehold consumption					

Figure 2: Theory of change for the project

Therefore, in this evaluation, we test three key hypotheses:

- Whether the information sharing by EAMDA training induces farmers to adopt the technologies of TCB and banana farming practices.
- Whether the addition of goal setting information can address behavioural constraints for farmers and encourage them to translate their intentions into action.
- Whether there is any relationship between the proportion of farmers who are being trained in a community and the likelihood of the remaining farmers deciding to adopt TCB technology.

To test these hypotheses, we use TCB and farming practices (the inputs used) as our key primary outcome variables. However, these technologies are being promoted with the anticipation that the farmers will yield higher harvests and gain more income. Therefore, we also measure productivity and income as additional outcomes.

Figure 3: Theory of change for goal setting intervention

Goal pursuit: Deciding that a technology (TCB) be adopted. Implementation Intentions: Deciding what to do, when, where and with what resources

Action initiation: Purchase and use of TCB Outcomes: Increased productivity and income from TCB cultivation

One of the implicit assumptions in this evaluation is greater profitability from TCB adoption. Horticulture is among the leading contributors to the agricultural GDP in Kenya at 36% and continues to grow at between 15% and 20% per year (Horticultural Crops Directorate (HCD), unpublished data). Banana production is attractive to smallholder farmers because it is appropriate for intercropping and its returns are high compared to other available alternative crops such as maize or cassava. Farmers can rely on bananas for a constant source of income because harvesting begins fourteen months after planting and may last up to ten years. Although we have measured the impacts 32 months after the interventions started, it is possible to make more longer-term assessments in the future.

3. Context

The evaluation was conducted in 90 villages (also referred to as communities or clusters) in Kirinyaga County of Central Kenya. About 80% of the country's poor reside in rural Kenya and primarily source their livelihoods from agriculture related activities (Republic of Kenya, 2015). The importance of the agricultural sector in Kenya is also evidenced by the positive correlation between growth in the agricultural sector and national economic growth. It is for these reasons that the Kenyan government has continued prioritizing agriculture in national development plans. Kenya's Vision 2030 and the Agriculture Sector Development Strategy (ASDS, 2010-2020) identify the agricultural sector as a key driver of economic growth and target to transform it from smallholder subsistence farming to a modern, innovative, and commercially sustainable sector (Republic of Kenya, 2012a).

Horticulture has, in the recent decades, emerged as one of the leading sub-sectors in Kenya in terms of foreign exchange earnings, food security, employment creation and poverty alleviation. As aforementioned, it is among the leading contributors of the Agricultural GDP at 36 percent. The sub-sector directly and indirectly employs over 6 Million Kenyans (Republic of Kenya, 2012b; HCD, unpublished data). It contributes to the household income and food security of many Kenyans, especially in the rural areas, who carry out one form of horticultural production or another. Data from the Horticulture Crop Directorate shows that though 90 percent of the total horticultural output is consumed locally, the rest brings a lot in export earnings. Kenya is a major exporter of horticultural products to Europe and the Middle East and earned USD 1.37 billion from these exports

in 2019. The importance of horticultural products to the pharmaceutical, health, nutrition and confectionery industries exists, though it is largely unexploited. Horticulture is among the few sub-sectors of the Kenyan economy that has recorded continuous growth over recent years in the background of declining performance of other sectors like tourism and general agriculture. However, the success and potential of the horticultural sector might not be sustained because of the many challenges facing it. Kenya is increasingly becoming uncompetitive in horticultural production compared to the neighbouring countries. This is attributed to high costs of production, low farm productivity, low adoption of modern technologies and poor marketing systems faced by local farmers.

Bananas are the leading horticultural fruit crop produced in Kenya. They account for at least 40% of all the fruit revenue generated in the country (Republic of Kenya, 2015). The crop is predominantly cultivated in smallholder farms which average 0.1 -3 hectares. Though bananas have been extensively farmed for ages by local communities as a food and cash crop, its cultivation has significantly expanded in the recent years. As with other subsistence food crops in Kenya, bananas were traditionally a women's crop. This has, however, changed with banana farming becoming popular for improving household food security and as an alternative source of household income.¹ This has become even more important as the potential of other crops such as coffee, tea, maize, and beans declines. Banana orchards have been replacing coffee plantations in rural Kenya. Unlike other horticultural fruit crops, bananas are not a seasonal crop and are produced all year round. Moreover, the demand for banana has been rising with changing consumption habits and lifestyles.

The 90 sampled villages/clusters are spread across all the sub-counties of Kirinyaga County - 15 clusters are in Kirinyaga East, 52 in Kirinyaga West, 10 in Kirinyaga Central, 7 in Mwea East and 6 in Mwea West. In terms of agronomical zoning, the majority of these clusters are located within the mid-zone, which is predominantly a coffee-growing zone. Fewer villages are in the high tea-zone close to Mt. Kenya and the low-zone of Mwea plains where rice farming is more common.

The type of crops grown in Kirinyaga is influenced by the various ecological zones. Main crops include rice which is grown in the lower zones and tea which is grown in the upper parts of the county. Coffee is also a major crop grown in the upper and middle zones. Other major crops grown include bananas, tomatoes, beans, mangoes, maize and other horticultural crops. Recently, the County Government of Kirinyaga has identified bananas as one of the major crops for increasing productivity and the development of a bananacentred value chain in their County's Integrated Development Plan 2018-2022. However, the extent of government service provision is still highly limited. For example, in the 2016-17 fiscal year, the County Government distributed only 4,000 banana seedlings as part of their horticulture clean planting materials distribution initiative. However, the seedlings covered less than 1% of the 3.6 thousand hectares of land used for banana cultivation in the county (KNBS, 2015).

¹ Our qualitative survey showed that the traditional banana crop was considered a women's crop, alongside other food crops, while men's crops were cash crops (tea, coffee and sugarcane). This is still the case in communities where modern banana varieties have not been adopted. However, Tissue culture bananas and other modern varieties are farmed by both men and women and we observed almost gender parity in production and marketing activities.

4. Evaluation: Design, data and analysis method

In this section we explain the research design and discuss the methodological issues related to our analysis and conclusions.

4.1 Experiment design

The study used a stratified randomized controlled treatment (at both village and household level) (Figure 4). We targeted 90 villages for the study that were identified by the EAMDA as possible intervention sites in Kirinyaga. We aimed to survey 50 households per village at baseline with a total sample of 4,500 farmer households. At the first stage of randomization, villages were randomly assigned to five groups to vary the intensity of interventions. 15 villages were assigned to each of the four treatment groups, and 30 villages were assigned to the pure control group which did not have any intervention from the EAMDA during the entire evaluation period. Stratification variables for this village level randomization were constructed by classifying villages based on the median values of the following variables: the proportion of farmers cultivating improved varieties of bananas; the village-level average of land used by farmers for banana cultivation; the amount of bananas sold; and the distance to the nearest collection center.

Figure 4: Randomization design



In the other four types of villages, comprised of 15 village each, the number of intervention households were 10, 20, 30 and 40 respectively, representing approximately 20%, 40%, 60% and 80% of the eligible farmers targeted for intervention in these villages. The same stratification variables used for village level randomization were also used for the household level randomization.² In these villages, the treatment households were randomly selected from the baseline survey, and a list of these farmers was provided to the implementation teams to invite them to the EAMDA training sessions. The control households in these intervention villages were our "spillover sample". Finally, half of the households from the treatment group were randomly selected for the goal setting intervention. Therefore, five types of villages and four types of households were targeted in this study. While the village types varied in the proportion of treatment households, the household types were as follows:

- Group 1: Control group (E1 in the figure above)
- Group 2: Spillover group (A1, B1, C1 and D1)
- Group 3: Treatment households (A2, B2, C2 and D2)
- Group 4: Goal setting households (A2G, B2G, C2G and D2G, which is a subsample of Group 3)

Figure 5 gives another way of visualizing the four sample groups. The training only, training + goal setting and spillover samples come from treatment villages, and the control refers to the 30 villages where neither of the two interventions was introduced. See Annex H for a map of the 90 villages and a zoomed in image of four neighbouring villages containing households allocated the different treatments in our study.



Figure 5: Visualizing study sample groups

² The definition of the stratification variables is different for the two types of randomization because of data (dis)aggregation. For example, we used the proportion of farmers in a village cultivating modern varieties of bananas (and divided village as below median across sites or not) for the village level randomization, we used whether a farmer household cultivated a modern variety or not during household level randomization. The same distinction applies to all four stratification variables.

4.2 Data

We conducted a baseline survey during May-June of 2016 in 90 potential intervention clusters identified by the EAMDA. On average, 53 households per village were interviewed with a total sample of 4,719 (instead of a target 4,500 households).³ These households were randomly allocated into the different arms as per the design (Figure 4). The number of households in the spillover sample (i.e., A1, B1, C1 and D1) was slightly higher as the number of treatment households in each village was assigned as per this design and the rest were allocated to the spillover group. The midline survey was conducted in Oct-Nov of 2017 where 4,344 households were re-interviewed with an overall attrition rate of 8%. The third survey (endline 1) was conducted during Sep-Oct of 2018 to reach 4,347 households with an overall attrition rate of 8%. In endline 2, which was conducted during December 2019 and January 2020, we managed to interview 4,190 of the baseline households for an overall attrition rate of 11.2% (Table 1). Figure 7 in Section 6 provides the study timeline.

Table 1 shows the sample distribution and attrition rates between baseline and endline 2 across the four study arms. Overall, the attrition rate was slightly higher in the 'training + goal setting' group (13.1%) than the other groups, whereas the other three arms had almost identical attrition rates. However, the difference in rates across the four arms is not statistically significantly.

	Control	Spillover	Training only	Training + goal setting	Total
Baseline	1,586	1,633	750	750	4,719
Endline 2	1,408	1,461	669	652	4,190
Attrition rate	11.2%	10.5%	10.8%	13.1%	11.2%

Table 1: Study sample by intervention groups

In order to assess the determinants of attrition, we used 14 baseline characteristics: gender, age and education of the respondent farmer, household size, number of plots owned by the household, number of rooms in the house, access to electricity, ownership of livestock, access to cash saving, and access to radio and television. The important part of this analysis was to assess whether there was differential attrition across the treatment groups even though their overall attrition rates were statistically indistinguishable. The is because the same attrition rate does not necessarily imply that the people who are lost in follow-up from one group are comparable to the attrited households of the other groups.

In order to test if attrition was correlated with treatment assignments, we looked at the joint significance of the baseline characteristics interacted with the treatment arms, which is a measure of differential attrition by baseline characteristics. The results are presented in Appendix Table A1. As can be seen in the Table, the results do show significant association of the characteristics with the likelihood of attrition for the training only group (the joint F-stat for the interactions is 2.75 and significant at <1% level) and the spillover group (the joint F-stat for the interactions is 2.79 and significant at <1% level). The main contributor to this differential attrition is access to electricity. In the main analysis, therefore, we used inverse probability weights for correcting this differential attrition by its contributors.

³ The minimum number of households interviewed in any given village is 50, which was our target number of households.

4.3 Comparability at baseline

Although the study used randomization, it is useful to check whether the treatment and control groups are statistically similar for the panel sample. We present a balance check in Table A2 where the variables in Panel A are related to household characteristics and the variables in Panel B shows the result of our key outcome variables. As we can see, the four groups have statistically similar average values for at least 24 of the 28 variables. This confirms successfulness of the randomization and balance of the panel. The variables that show statistical difference are the ownership of a tv, total household income and income from sources other than banana cultivation. Access to electricity is lower among both the training only and training with goal setting intervention arms. As noted earlier, electricity access was also correlated with attrition and was thus used in correcting for probability of participation.

The difference in baseline total income seems relatively high – over Ksh 10,000 for training with goal setting group, which is almost 20% lower than that of the control group. However, as it is well known, income measure in rural areas in developing countries is generally very noisy (reflected by a relatively high standard error). Another way to assess the implication of observed difference in randomized control trials is by measuring the normalized difference. Following Imbens and Wooldridge (2009), the normalized difference between the lowest and highest means (control vs. training+goal setting) for total income is 0.15. This is lower than the rule of thumb cut-off (0.25) for normalized difference large for linear regression methods to be sensitive to the specifications for impact evaluation. Nonetheless, we control for the baseline values in our impact estimates for all outcome indicators.

4.4 Intervention compliance with randomization

In this section we present compliance of the intervention to the randomization. We have two separate measures for compliance checks – a) direct monitoring by the research team while the interventions took place,⁴ and b) asking the respondents to recall the training and goal setting at the endline 2 survey (Figure 6). According to the compliance monitoring data, 68% of those in the 'training only' category and 75% in the 'training plus goal setting' category participated in the training. Those who did not receive the interventions failed for a variety of reasons including inability to be reached, wrong phone numbers, inability to be reached, or absence from Kirinyaga during the testing period. The recall data also showed similar rates although about 9% of the households from spillover and 3% of control groups reported receiving the training.⁵

⁴ A field coordinator based in Nairobi who was involved full-time throughout the project implementation phase was there so that the study team could directly monitor the implementation partner's activities. Two additional assistants were also hired for the first year and they worked closely with the EAMDA so as to address slow listing of target households for the baseline survey. ⁵ It is possible that most of these control village households confused the EAMDA's intervention with another banana intervention that was in place in the area before this intervention. More details are provided in the sub-section below on main findings from the qualitative study.



Figure 6: Compliance with randomization for EAMDA training

For the goal setting component, 91% of those assigned to this treatment arm could be reached for the intervention. Therefore, about 15% of the farmers in the goal setting arm did not attend the training but took part in the goal-setting session.

4.5 Analysis method

Given the reasonably high level of compliance and low contamination, we use intention to treat (ITT) effect for the impact analysis. This essentially means we measure the average effects on all the households assigned to treatment groups irrespective of their actual participation, using the following specification

$$Y_{(endline_{2})iv} = \alpha + \beta_{1} * T_{iv} + \beta_{2} * G_{iv} + \beta_{3} * S_{iv} + \beta_{4} * Y_{(baseline)iv} + \mu_{vi}$$
(1)

 $Y_{(endline2) iv}$ are the outcome indicators at the 2nd endline survey for household *i* in village *v*. T_{iv} and G_{iv} are dummies for treatment assignment of the households into "training farmers group only" and "training + goal setting" interventions respectively. Therefore, β_1 is the ITT impact estimate of the training interventions at endline 2, and β_2 is the same for training plus goal setting intervention. S_{iv} is a dummy variable equal to 1 if the household belongs to the spillover sample (i.e., control households in the treatment villages) and hence β_3 is the spillover effect after controlling for the baseline values, $(Y_{(baseline) iv})$ of respective outcomes. All estimates use errors clustered at village level, and scales variables (for monetary values) are winsorized at 95% for outliers at the high end. To account for false discovery rates due to multiple hypothesis tests, we report q-values following the methods used in Anderson (2008) for each set of outcomes across the intervention groups.

In the main text, we present the impact results of the 2nd endline survey using the above specification, which is supplemented by the following specification that measure the impact at midline, and compare the endline 1 and endline 2 impacts with the respective estimates at midline:

$$Y_{(follow-up)iv} = \alpha + \beta_1 * T_{iv} * endline2 + \beta_2 * G_{iv} * endline2 + \beta_3 * S_{iv} * endline2 + \beta_4 * T_{iv} * endline1 + \beta_5 * G_{iv} * endline1 + \beta_6 * S_{iv} * endline1 + \beta_7 * T_{iv} + \beta_8 * T_{iv} * G_{iv} + \beta_9 * S_{iv} + \beta_{10} * endline1 + \beta_{11} * endline2 + \beta_{12} * Y_{(baseline) iv} + \mu_{vi}$$
(2)

In this specification, $Y_{(follow-up)iv}$ are the outcome variables at follow-up (either midline, endline 1 or endline 2). Coefficients β_7 , β_8 and β_9 are the midline impacts of training only, training combined with goal setting and spillover effect, respectively. β_1 , β_2 and β_3 are estimates of the impact difference at endline 2 from their respective midline results. β_4 , β_5 and β_6 provide similar comparison of impacts at endline 1 vs. midline. In other words, these coefficients show whether the impacts at endlines 1 and 2 changed from the estimated impacts at midline.

We also used the random variation in the intensity of intervention (i.e., the proportion of farmers treated in a village) to explore whether having more treated farmers in a village creates stronger effects on the treatment and spillover groups. We measure how the effects vary as the proportion of treated farmers increases using the following specification:

$$Y_{(follow-up)iv} = \alpha + \beta_1 * T_{iv} + \beta_2 * T_{iv} * G_{iv} + \beta_3 * S_{iv} + \beta_4 (T_{iv} * I_v) + \beta_5 (S_{iv} * I_v) + Y_{(baseline) iv} + \mu_{vi}$$
(3)

where I_v is the intensity of intervention in village v, which takes the value of 0.2, 0.4, 0.6 and 0.8 based on the random assignment for different fraction of the sample households receiving the EAMDA interventions, and 0 for 'pure control' villages. Therefore, β_4 and β_5 are the estimates of how the ITT on treatment group and spillover effects changes respectively with saturation. These slope effects take a linear slope assumption. β_1 and β_2 are the effect of the training at zero intensity and therefore, do not have any direct interpretation and can be used only for estimation purposes. For example, if the values of the coefficients for β_1 and β_4 are 0.20 and -0.15 respectively, this means that the average effects at 50% intensity villages would be 7.5 percentage points (0.2-0.15X50%) and 11 percentage points (0.2-0.15X60%) at 60% intensity villages. In other words, the effect size declines by 1.5 percentage points as the share of households receiving treatment increases by 10 percentage points.

5. Programme or policy: Design, methods and implementation

The interventions that we have evaluated under this project are part of the Farmer Organization Support Centre in Africa (FOSCA) initiated by the AGRA to strengthen the capacity of Farmers' Organizations (FO). The EAMDA project, titled "Building a competitive export banana industry in Kenya", targeted reaching about 11,000 farmers in Kirinyaga county.

The initial design of the intervention included two key components: a) providing information to farmers through training and visits to demonstration plots and b) connecting farmers with exporters to reach the export market through building the institutional capacity of FOs. The target group was intended to be farmers who are part of farmers' groups.6 The approach of the EAMDA was to target improving banana productivity of the farmers' groups, with the anticipation of spillover effects on the other farmers who are living in the same communities but not part of any farmers' groups. Accordingly, the baseline survey was conducted on two sample groups: farmer group members and general farmers who are not part of any group. However, it was later

⁶ See the component and cost information in the project budget in Annex I.

established from the baseline survey data that the extent of banana cultivation and interest in participating in banana cultivation related training were equally prevalent between the two groups. Consequently, EAMDA agreed to extend the training to farmers beyond the groups and all the farmers were given an equal chance of being in the treatment groups irrespective of their group membership. This enabled us to measure spillover effects in a more robust way since the treatment and control groups within intervention villages were comparable due to randomized assignment instead of the criterion of group membership.

A second important change that took place from the original intervention design is related to linking farmers to exporters/export markets. After initial training sessions were rolled out, the EAMDA assessed the needs of market linkages and decided that the existing market channels are adequate for the farmers to market their produce. Therefore, this component was dropped from the intervention package. It is also noteworthy that farmers anticipated marketing services as other business and non-business entities are currently taking such initiatives (e.g., Twiga Food as part of a USAID project).

The EAMDA training primarily focused on production and post-harvest handling practices. These included orchard establishment and allied practices such as site selection, land marking, hole-digging and planting; and orchard management practices such as weeding, pests and diseases control, de-leafing, de-suckering, watering and propping. Farmers were also trained on how to identify a banana crop ready for harvesting, and how to harvest and handle the produce before it reached the market. Each training session ended with a question/answer session, a discussion and a demonstration. The critical pieces of information that were delivered to the training participants were the productivity and economic value of using TCB plantlets.

After the randomized list of treatment farmers was provided to the EAMDA management, they prepared an intervention rollout plan for their three trainers. The plan included the location and time of the training session conducted by trainers. The EAMDA sent out bulk mobile text messages to the target farmers inviting them to the training. However, additional efforts were taken to increase uptake rates after the research team observed low participation (below 25%) in the first week of training. Two research assistants (RA), who were assigned to monitor compliance during the fieldwork, called the farmers to invite them to the training. Farmers who could not be reached over phone were visited physically by the RAs. Most of the training (about 90 per cent) took place at the farmer's homestead/plot. The rest took place at a landmark facility in the village such as a tea buying center, a chief's camp or a coffee factory.

All treatment groups received training in a single session that lasted 3 - 4 hours. 19 percent of the groups/villages received a repeat training session for varied reasons. These included disruption by poor weather, abrupt social events e.g., burial services that coincided with the already scheduled sessions, and poor mobilization for participation. However, the content of the training offered to all groups was the same.

The goal setting component was introduced by the research team as an additional component to this project. The objective of this component is to assess whether a simple behavioural nudge that could be introduced easily as part of farmers' training sessions

could result in the desired impact. Since TCB was found to be the key component of EAMDA training, we took "adoption of TCB" as our goal setting intervention. This involved discussions with the farmers to help them prepare a plan for procuring TCB if they were willing and interested in adopting this technology. This discussion was done over phone and after the main EAMDA training rollout was complete.

6. Timeline

As noted earlier, the study started with a baseline survey that was conducted during May-June of 2016. The program team from the EAMDA identified the villages that they considered suitable for their interventions (Figure 7). The survey included smallholder farmers, with 95% of them having access to less than 5 acres of land (owned or rented) with an average of 1.36 acres (Table A2). Additional characteristics used for the sample selection were whether farmers were currently cultivating bananas or were interested in cultivating bananas. We conducted this randomization in October 2016 and provided the list of treatment farmers and villages to the EAMDA for intervention rollout, as well as the list of control villages to ensure that no EAMDA intervention took place there.

Figure 7: Study timeline



Training of farmers started from November 2016 and continued till April 2017. Compliance checks were conducted throughout this period, including a month prior to the rollout to avoid possible contamination. The goal setting intervention was implemented in April 2017. The midline survey was conducted in Oct.-Nov. 2017, which was 6-8 months after the implementation of the interventions. The endline 1 survey was conducted a year later about 18-20 months after the interventions were completed. The second endline survey was conducted between Dec 2019 and Jan 2020, approximately 32-33 months after the end of the interventions.

7. Impact results

We present four sets of impact results, starting with the ITT effects as our main analysis. This is followed by an analysis of how the impacts vary based on the intensity of interventions at the village level. The third set of analyses focus on understanding the spillover effects by using social network data. Finally, we discuss summary results from our exploratory heterogeneity analysis in the fourth sub-section.

7.1 Intention to treat (ITT) effects

Figure 8 shows the proportion of households engaged in banana cultivation. As we can see, the control group did not have any major change between the baseline and midline,

but there was a 10 percentage points increase by the endline 1 followed by a decline to baseline level by endline 2. The percentage of farmers cultivating bananas consistently increased from baseline to midline to endline 1 for all three groups in the treatment villages. Between endline 1 and 2, both training groups (i.e., training with/without goalsetting) showed a jump in banana cultivation to 94%. In the regressions, we present these effects measured against the control group.





7.1.1 Banana cultivation

We include five primary banana cultivation outcomes: i) cultivation of any variety of banana; ii) cultivation of modern banana variety; iii) use of tissue culture bananas; iv) land use for bananas; and v) expenditure on banana production. The main modern variety is cavendish while there are several local varieties such as *muraru* or *sukari*. TCB plantlet use is promoted and available for both modern and local varieties. The estimation results are based on the specification provided above in Equation 1. The corresponding results that compare the two endline impacts with those of midline (Equation 2) are presented in Table A3.

We find significant effects of both training only and training with goal setting arms on the likelihood of banana cultivation. There is also no significant spillover effect of this outcome. The effect sizes are over 20 percentage points for both arms. When we compare the endline impact estimates with those of the midline (Table A3), we see that the bulk of this impact has happened after endline 1. The impact estimates on this outcome were not significant at both midline and endline 1 although point estimates were positive. Impact endline 2 are 18pp higher for training only and 13pp higher for training with goalsetting compared to midline results and statistically highly significant. The point estimate for impact on spillover sample at endline 2 is 6.5pp and the q-value shows a 5% level of significance. As we can see from the descriptive statistics in Figure 8, part of the large impacts observed in endline 2 is due to the reduction of banana cultivation in the control group. Although we cannot rigorously explain the change in control group, the apparent "disadoption" can be by farmers' decisions to abandon banana cultivation due to lower return than alternative crops and/or plant disease. The data suggests that banana disease may have played some role.⁷

⁷ For example, when we look at the rates of banana cultivation at endline 2 by their experience of banana diseases in the previous round (endline 1), 70% of the control group farmers continued banana cultivation compared to 91% of treatment group farmers.

	Cultivated banana	Cultivated modern variety	Used Tissue culture banana	Land used for banana	Money spent on banana
	0.220	0.318	0.349	0.098	250.990
Training (Endline2)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.013)
	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.008]
Training plus goal	0.211	0.329	0.311	0.097	225.240
0, 0	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
setting (Endline2)	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]
	0.065	0.087	0.055	0.015	-1.535
Spillover (Endline2)	(0.121)	(0.024)	(0.165)	(0.173)	(0.969)
	[0.043]	[0.014]	[0.052]	[0.052]	[0.228]
Observations	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190
R-squared	0.056	0.086	0.095	0.095	0.020
Training = Training plus					
goal setting	0.494	0.647	0.257	0.936	0.779
Control mean (Endline2)	0.752	0.572	0.232	0.135	208

 Table 2: Impact estimates for outcomes related to banana cultivation at endline 2

Note: p values after robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; [] includes the q-values that adjust multiple hypothesis testing of the 15 impact coefficients in the table using Anderson (2008) method. Baseline values were not controlled for modern variety and TCB outcomes as the data was incomplete at baseline.

Moreover, there is a substantial effect on farmers adopting modern variety and tissue culture banana (TCB) at endline 2 (Table 2) and significantly higher than the effects observed at midline (Table A3). The point estimates at endline 2 are over 30pp for both treatment arms. When compared with the control mean, this reflects about a 50% increase in cultivating modern varieties of banana and over 125% increase in TCB adoption. There is also a spillover effect on both outcomes with a 8.7pp increase in modern variety cultivation and 5.5pp increase in TCB adoption for this sample. Although the p-value for TCB adoption for the spillover sample is above the 10% threshold, it becomes significant at that level after adjusting for multiple hypothesis test.

This impact on TCB adoption corresponds with positive effects on amount of land used and expenditure on banana cultivation. Even though the endline 2 effect size of almost 0.1 acre on land use for banana cultivation is small, it is economically meaningful since the average household in the control group used 0.14 acres land for banana cultivation. There is no additional effect of goal setting on this indicator, and the spillover effect is smaller and significant at the 10% level. Training increased money spent on banana cultivation by Ksh 252 and Ksh 225 (or USD 2.5 and 2.2 respectively) for the two treatment groups which are over 100% of the control group mean at endline. However, there is no significant effect on money spent for banana cultivation in the spillover group. Overall, the results show that the training intervention had large effects on technology adoption at endline 2. Although training plus goal setting had some additional effects at endline 1, further increase between the two rounds of the survey result in no such additionality by endline 2. The increase in effect sizes between endline 1 and 2 suggests possible learning effects from early adopters at midline and endline 1 taking place in treatment villages.

7.1.2 Banana farming practices

As mentioned earlier, the training focused on promoting the use of TCB and discussed advantages of adopting TCB. However, farmers also received information on the value of various good practices of banana farming and were encouraged to adopt them. Table 3 shows the endline 2 impacts on primary indicators related to cultivation practices. We find statistically significant effects on weeding practice and hiring labour for weeding for both treatment groups. Around 18pp additional farmers in the treatment groups reported weeding practice reflecting a 35% increase compared to the control group at endline 2. The effect size on hired labour for weeding is 12pp for training only and 9pp for training with goal setting. The effect on use of fertilizer are also significant effect on pesticide use. Overall, the results show large positive impacts of the training at endline 2 on farming practices. However, there is no significant marginal effect of goal setting or spillover effect on untreated farmers. Similar to the trends in banana cultivation, there is a delayed effect on these cultivation practices when we compare the endline effects with midline results (Table A4).

	Did weeding	Hired labour for	Used fertilizer	Used pesticides
	for banana	weeding banana	for banana	for banana
	0.170	0.117	0.179	0.029
Training (Endline2)	(0.000)	(0.019)	(0.000)	(0.551)
	[0.001]	[0.033]	[0.002]	[0.283]
Training plus goal	0.185	0.085	0.193	0.047
Training plus goal setting (Endline2)	(0.000)	(0.050)	(0.000)	(0.33)
setting (Endinez)	[0.001]	[0.063]	[0.001]	[0.257]
	0.066	0.010	0.055	0.019
Spillover (Endline2)	(0.136)	(0.793)	(0.136)	(0.683)
	[0.114]	[0.360]	[0.114]	[0.331]
Observations	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190
R-squared	0.021	0.011	0.025	0.021
Training = Training plus				
goal setting	0.654	0.330	0.725	0.628
Control mean (Endline2)	0.55	0.326	0.396	0.276

Table 3: Impact estimates for outcomes related to adoption of farming practices at
endline 2

Note: p values after robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; [] includes the q-values that adjust multiple hypothesis test of the 12 impact coefficients in the table using Anderson (2008)'s method.

7.1.3 Banana production

We explore here how the interventions affected banana production and banana yield, which are essentially the outcome variables from technology adoption. There is a positive and significant increase in banana production because of the treatment. The magnitude of the impact is also large (over 350 kg or about 140% of control group mean) and highly significant at the 1% level (Table 4). There is also significant spillover effect on production although at a smaller magnitude (about 50 kg). Productivity increase (measured by production per acre of cultivated land) is also significantly higher among the treatment groups, and the spillover sample shows a weak increase in productivity compared to the control group.

Looking at the impact trends (Table A5), we find that there are significant effects on production both at midline and endline 1, but the impacts in endline 2 are significantly higher. For example, the training only group had 84 kg of additional banana produced at midline compared to the control group, and this impact had increased by 108 kg at endline 1 and by 284 kg at endline 2. Therefore, a large portion of the 361 kg production impact observed at endline 2 materialized after the midline. This trend is understandable given that it takes about 14 months from banana plantation to harvesting. This also indicates possibilities of larger effects on production in the future because of the lagged effect on banana cultivation and TCB adoption observed after endline 1.

	Amount of banana produced (in kg)	Banana yield (per acre)
	361.240	1,298.266
Training (Endline2)	(0.000)	(0.000)
	0.001	0.001
	352.488	1,267.245
Training plus goal setting (Endline2)	(0.000)	(0.000)
	[0.001]	[0.001]
	49.584	237.484
Spillover (Endline2)	(0.071)	(0.156)
	[0.03]	[0.055]
Observations	4,190	4,190
R-squared	0.150	0.076
Training = Training plus goal setting	0.788	0.845
Control mean (Endline2)	253	1633

Note: p values after robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; [] includes the q-values that adjust multiple hypothesis test of the 6 impact coefficients in the table using Anderson (2008)'s method.

7.1.4 Banana marketing

Apart from production and yield, sales and income from bananas are the key outcomes in our theory of change. We consider next the amount and revenue on banana sales, and whether there was a contract written with the individuals the bananas were sold to (Table 5). In the control group, there are very few farmers (less than 1%) who are growing bananas as part of contract farming schemes in Kirinyaga. There has been a recent initiative (not part of the EAMDA) by a marketer (Twiga Food) which started banana sourcing from the county in 2018. We find around 6 pp increase in the likelihood of selling bananas on contract by the training intervention and this increase is statistically significant at the 5% level. From our qualitative interviews and feedback from survey teams, the Twiga Food company was the purchaser in almost all these cases. This is corroborated by the fact that we did not see any effect on selling bananas on contract at midline and only a weak effect in endline 1 (Table A6). Similar to earlier results, some effect (around 2 per cent) took place after the midline and the bulk of it occurred after endline 1, coinciding with the operational start of Twiga Food. This suggests a possible synergy between training for technology adoption and marketing whereby adopters are better able to utilize new marketing services.

Training also increased the volume of bananas sold by the farmers to a magnitude of over 350 kg per farmer, which is almost 200% of the control group mean at endline 2. The spillover sample also shows a 44 kg increase in banana sales over the control group. Our impact estimates on income from banana sales (gross revenue) are positive for both training only (by about Ksh 7,000 or USD 70) and training with goal setting (by almost Ksh 6,500 or USD 65). Spillover samples also show a positive impact of over Ksh 800 (or USD 8). Given the large effect size, we also looked at this outcome by taking the log value of revenue to account for the large dispersion in the monetary outcome. The estimates remain significant when the log values are used instead of the nominal amounts. When comparing the impact results at midline and endline 1, the positive effects on sales and revenue are observed also at endline 1 but the point estimates are lower than those at endline 2 (Table A6). There was, however, no significant effect on banana marketing and revenue at midline for the training only group. This is again due to the production period of bananas being longer than the duration between intervention and our midline survey. In analysing the treatment effect in quantile regression, we find significant positive effects of Ksh 7,000 for the training at median level. Although there is an increasing trend in the effect size by quantile analysis, the p-value of the effect size is less than 0.01 at 20th percentile and higher. This suggests that the revenue earnings from banana cultivation have been significantly higher for almost everyone in the treatment group by endline 2.

	Sold	Amount of	Revenue from	Log of Revenue
	banana on	banana sold	banana sales	from banana
	contract	(kg)	(Ksh)	sales (Ksh)
	0.066	389.487	7,171.153	1.625
Training (Endline2)	(0.024)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
	[0.016]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]
Training plug goal	0.059	358.142	6,408.725	1.529
Training plus goal	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
setting (Endline2)	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]	[0.001]
	0.011	43.750	838.465	0.246
Spillover (Endline2)	(0.066)	(0.074)	(0.073)	(0.105)
	[0.035]	[0.035]	[0.035]	[0.038]
Observations	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190
R-squared	0.026	0.165	0.175	0.149
Training = Goal setting	0.755	0.407	0.272	0.491
Control mean				
(Endline2)	.00355	191	3598	7.03

Table 5: Impact estimates for outcomes related to banana marketing at endline 2

Note: p values after robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; [] includes the q-values that adjust multiple hypothesis test of the 12 impact coefficients in the table using Anderson (2008) method. Both amount sold and revenue are winsorized at the 95% level.

7.1.5 Household income and expenditure

The final set of outcomes for our impact study are related to total household income and expenditure (as a proxy for wellbeing). In our midline assessment, we found a negative effect on total income of the treatment group, which was about 10% of the total income of the control group. The negative effect on total income at midline was almost entirely driven by a reduction in their income from non-banana crops (Table A7). This short-term

negative effect can likely be attributed to treatment group farmers allocating more land to banana cultivation.⁸ Moreover, there had been no harvest of bananas from the recently grown banana plantlets at midline. However, by the endline 1 survey, the negative effect had disappeared (Table A7). That said, when we look at the endline 2 results only, we again find large negative point estimates (Table 6). However, none of the estimates in Table 6 are statistically significant.

	Total income	Log (total income)	Non-banana crops income	Log (non- banana income+1)	Per capita monthly expenditure	Log (Per capita exp+1)
Training	-13,805.25	-0.015	-9,103.52	-0.434	313.90	0.080
(Endline2)	(0.085)	(0.438)	(0.212)	(0.372)	(0.764)	(0.552)
(Endinez)	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
Training plus	-11,144.04	-0.070	-8,659.48	-0.254	-54.42	-0.032
goal setting	(0.062)	(0.335)	(0.321)	(0.578)	(0.913)	(0.856)
(Endline2)	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
Spillovor	-11,780.57	-0.085	-6,971.15	-0.161	-19.76	-0.009
Spillover (Endline2)	(0.043)	(0.863)	(0.228)	(0.156)	(0.15)	(0.194)
(Endline2)	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]	[1.000]
Observations	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190
R-squared	0.025	0.012	0.064	0.045	0.003	0.003
Training =						
Goal setting	0.631	0.422	0.898	0.318	0.0251	0.0169
Control mean						
(Endline 2)	122263	11.3	45176	9.08	3672	8.03

Note: p values after robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; [] includes the q-values that adjust multiple hypothesis test of the 18 impact coefficients in the table using Anderson (2008) method.

Given the trends between midline and endline 1, there was an anticipation of a positive effect on total income through enhanced impact on banana revenue. However, contrary to our expectations, we still find negative point estimates. Since we also observed an unanticipated increase in adoption after endline 1, it is possible that late adopters will generate additional revenue in the future. Nonetheless, with the available information we can rule out an overall positive effect on income although we cannot rule out the possibility of farmers generating higher total income in future.

7.2 Impact by the intensity of interventions

In this section, we assess the trend in impact by the intensity of intervention in the village. The main goal is to assess whether training more farmers from a village can affect the impacts obtained by the training. Table 7 shows the endline results by intervention intensity using the specification of Equation 3. We do not find any strong association between intervention intensity and impacts on technology adoption for banana cultivation at endline 2. Although the p-value of modern verity of banana cultivation and land size used for banana showed significant association with intensity at

⁸ Point estimates of the effects of the interventions on land used for non-banana crops are between 5 and 8 decimal (estimates not shown in table) although not statistically significant.

5% level, this statistical significance does not persist after adjustment for multiple hypothesis testing. It is to be noted here that there was also no association between intervention intensity and impacts measured at both midline and endline 1 (results not shown).

	Cultivated	Cultivated	Used Tissue	Land used	Money spent	
	banana	modern variety	culture banana	for banana	on banana	
Training (Endline2)	0.201	0.160	0.206	0.032	-8.716	
	(0.000)	(0.101)	(0.092)	(0.419)	(0.956)	
	[0.004]	[0.272]	[0.272]	[0.554]	[0.703]	
Training plus goal setting (Endline2)	0.192	0.174	0.170	0.036	-30.573	
	(0.000)	(0.043)	(0.143)	(0.36)	(0.872)	
	[0.004]	[0.207]	[0.372]	[0.513]	[0.703]	
Spillover (Endline2)	0.008	-0.015	-0.013	-0.007	-62.709	
	(0.920)	(0.831)	(0.864)	(0.762)	(0.253)	
	[0.703]	[0.703]	[0.703]	[0.703]	[0.39]	
Training X Intensity	0.031	0.256	0.233	0.129	423.375	
	(0.621)	(0.045)	(0.186)	(0.043)	(0.171)	
	[0.646]	[0.207]	[0.374]	[0.207]	[0.372]	
Spillover X Intensity	0.142	0.253	0.168	0.065	151.578	
	(0.255)	(0.04)	(0.264)	(0.094)	(0.157)	
	[0.39]	[0.207]	[0.39]	[0.272]	[0.372]	
Observations	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190	4,190	
R-squared	0.059	0.095	0.100	0.087	0.024	

Table 7: Intensity of intervention and impacts on banana cultivation at endline 2

Note: p values after robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; [] includes the q-values that adjust multiple hypothesis test of the 25 impact coefficients in the table using Anderson (2008)'s method. Baseline values were not controlled for modern variety and TCB outcomes as the data was incomplete at baseline. Training dummy combines training only and training with goal setting arms.

The estimates in Table 7 assume a linear relationship between treatment intensity and effect sizes. An alternative approach, therefore, is to use the dummy variables for the percentage of farmers who are treated in a village and measure impacts across the four types of villages. As discussed in the evaluation design, we have four types of treatment villages who were randomly assigned for 20%, 40%, 60% and 80% of the sampled farmers to receive the training intervention. Figure 9 gives a graphical presentation of the impact estimates at endline 2 across these four types of villages for the training intervention on three adoption indicators – whether farmers have cultivated a modern banana variety; whether they have cultivated TCV plantlets; and the amount of land (in acres) used for banana cultivation. While we find a generally low level of impact in villages where 20% of the farmers were treated, there is no visible difference in impact sizes among the villages with 40%, 60%, and 80% intervention intensities.



Figure 9: Intensity dummy and impact of training on technology adoption at endline 2

7.3 Social network and spillover effects

Although we find some evidence of spillover effects, it is possible that these effects are concentrated among the farmers of control group in the treatment villages (i.e., our spillover sample) who are connected only with the farmers in treatment groups. This can create a small spillover effect if there are many farmers in the spillover group who are not connected to any treatment farmers. In order to assess the influence of social networks on the spillover effects, we analysed the effect of social networks of farmers on the endline 2 outcomes of the spillover samples.

	Cultivated banana	Cultivated modern	Used Tissue culture	Land used for banana	Money spent on
		variety	banana		banana
Social network with treatment	0.003	0.043	-0.022	0.015	-195.565
farmers at endline 1	(0.031)	(0.044)	(0.048)	(0.021)	(170.584)
Social network with treatment	0.008	-0.017	-0.022	-0.014	97.468
farmers	(0.027)	(0.032)	(0.022)	(0.016)	(108.828)
Social network in the village	0.013	-0.010	0.050	-0.011	107.062
at endline 1	(0.016)	(0.022)	(0.026)*	(0.013)	(86.803)
Social network in the village	0.038	0.057	0.050	0.032	210.739
	(0.014)**	(0.016)***	(0.014)***	(0.013)**	(63.799)***
Endline 1 dummy	0.053	0.024	0.069	0.017	-268.687
	(0.024)**	(0.029)	(0.023)***	(0.009)*	(74.688)***
Constant	0.744	0.629	0.091	0.162	575.518
	(0.030)***	(0.032)***	(0.014)***	(0.012)***	(76.923)***
Observations	2,973	2,973	2,973	2,973	2,973
R-squared	0.021	0.017	0.046	0.015	0.063

 Table 8: Association between social network with treatment groups and outcome indicators

Note: Robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. Social network is measured by number of households from the study sample in the village that the farmer is connected to in terms of sharing information on farming, collective sales or belonging to farmers' groups. Only spillover sample is included in this analysis.

Social network data was collected at midline and endline 1 by asking each respondent about their relationship with the other farmers in their respective villages. The social

network questions included basic information about whether s/he knows the person, have been part of the same farmers' group, exchanged information about banana cultivation and whether they have any credit relationship. Table 8 shows the result where the social network is defined as the number of other farmers that the respondent said they "belong to a common farmers group with or have shared information on farming in the last one year or done sales together". This analysis uses only the spillover sample. The coefficients of the second column control for overall connection of the farmers with any of the sample group in the village. After controlling for their connection, the first column shows the association between the connection with the number of treatment groups' farmers and the outcomes.

In this measure of spillover through social networks, we do not find any association of outcome variables with the number of social connections with treatment farmers. This implies that the spillover effect is generally weak for this intervention. Although the association between general social network is statistically significant for most of the outcomes, it does not reflect the effect of social networks as it is not exogenous. It is possible that more advanced farmers build stronger social networks (reverse causality) or there are other omitted factors driving the correlation.

7.4 Heterogeneity of impact

We also conducted some exploratory analysis of the heterogeneity of impacts at endline 2. Table A8 to A10 present results of the different dimensions of heterogeneity that we identified as "potentially important" in our pre-analysis plan. Table A8 shows the results for the farmers according to their land size and gender marked by the shaded rows. We do not find major gender differences in banana cultivation and adoption of TCB. However, the effect of the training is about 20pp higher for male farmers than their female counterparts. It is also to be noted that male farmers in control groups are about 14 pp less likely to cultivate modern varieties of bananas. Therefore, the training interventions seem to have counteracted to balance this gendered difference. Farm sizes were categorised as "large" if a farmer's total cultivable landholding at baseline is higher than the median. We do not find major impact differences by their baseline farm size. Finally, there is also no clear trend in terms of interaction of farmers' gender and land sizes. There is no significant impact heterogeneity in terms of farmers' access to credit at baseline (Table A9). We used baseline survey value of whether the farmer has any outstanding loan (either from an individual or an institution) as a proxy for access to credit. Out of the 10 estimates of impact heterogeneity on banana cultivation by access to credit, only one shows statistical significance (p-value of 0.07).

Access to irrigation, however, seems to be an important dimension of impact heterogeneity (Table A10). Although there is no differential impact on their likelihood of adopting modern varieties or TCB plantlets, farmers with access to irrigation at baseline increased the land used for banana cultivation compared to those without access to irrigation in both intervention groups (training only and training with goal setting). While the impacts of training only on land used for banana cultivation is about 8 decimals of land for those who did not have access to irrigation, the average impact is twice the magnitude for those who had access. There is also a weak differential effect on money spent for banana cultivation for the treatment group who received training with goal setting with those with access to irrigation spending more than those without access.

7.5 Main findings from the qualitative study⁹

In this sub-section, we discuss the main findings from the qualitative study where both focus group discussions (FGDs) and key informant interviews (KIIs) were used. Fifteen (15) of the ninety (90) groups that were part of the larger study were randomly selected from these villages to take part in the qualitative study: four (4) control (those who never received the EAMDA intervention) and eleven (11) treatment (those who received the EAMDA intervention). In total, fifteen (15) FGDs were interviewed for this study. Purposively, thirty (30) key informants were interviewed: fifteen (15) group leaders five (5) extension officers, five (5) local chiefs, and five (5) banana traders with some expert knowledge concerning improved banana varieties in the area. The qualitative component is expected to provide additional insights on the results obtained from the quantitative study.

Adoption of Modern and Tissue Culture Bananas: Prevalence of Modern and Tissue Culture Bananas

As mentioned earlier, TC varieties are also grown in control villages. Farmers in both treatment and control groups indicated that they were growing some varieties which they acquired from other interventions that sought to promote these varieties in the area before the EAMDA's 2016 intervention. These interventions include those implemented by Technoserve, MOA and extension services, Eco-seed, Aberdare technologies, Shamba shape up, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology (JKUAT), Africa harvest, Njaa marufuku, and Twiga foods.

Nevertheless, all farmers in the treatment groups acknowledged the fact that cultivation of traditional banana varieties that have been planted for decades has been declining, while the uptake of modern and TC bananas has been increasing. This fact was also acknowledged by all farmers in control groups, who mentioned that interventions by groups such as Twiga foods have assisted them to appreciate new varieties of bananas.

When the members who were growing TC bananas for the first time (both treatment and control) were probed further concerning their reasons for not planting the varieties earlier, they indicated that they preferred to first understand the cost incurred in the management of TC varieties, and also to wait and observe from adopters if TC bananas had extra benefits compared to conventional varieties. However, all new adopters agreed that due to training, they were now satisfied with their findings concerning the costs and benefits of adopting TCB technology.

The study also noted that adoption of some traditional varieties such as the sweet banana is diminishing since it is prone to diseases even though it has a good market. Various reasons were cited when farmers were asked why they adopted different varieties of bananas. A short maturity period (72.7% of farmers in treatment groups), disease resistance and better markets (63.6% of farmers respectively) topped the list as reasons for adoption of TC varieties in treatment villages. In control villages, disease resistance and better markets were equally ranked (75% of farmers each respectively), while half of them (50% each respectively), mentioned a short maturity period, and the fact that TC varieties are shorter in size and thus do not require propping. Similarly, the

⁹ The full qualitative report is provided separately.

majority of farmers interviewed in the treatment groups (90.9%), mentioned a short maturity period as the main reason for adopting modern varieties while better markets came second with 63.6% farmers mentioning the reason. Conversely, a short maturity period and disease resistance topped the list as the reasons for adopting modern varieties in control groups (75% of farmers each respectively). On the other hand, half of the farmers in the control groups (50% each respectively), mentioned better markets and the sweeter taste of ripe modern bananas as reasons to adopt TC varieties.

The fact that adopting modern and TC varieties over traditional banana varieties is mentioned as a priority by the farmers suggests that farmers in the study area realize the importance of adopting the improved varieties. Therefore, there is a need to ensure that barriers to adoption of modern and TC banana varieties are addressed. The study noted that some adopters had planted fewer TC varieties compared to others. When asked why this was the case, most farmers in both treatment and control groups mentioned land and water shortages as the most critical barriers to adoption of TC bananas (63.6% of treatment groups and 50% of the control group, respectively). Other major barriers mentioned by farmers in both groups included the cost of TC plantlets (45.5% of farmers in treatment groups and 25% in control.), and a lack of information about how to access TC plantlets from certified and reliable sources (45.5% in treatment groups and 25% control). For example, one of the key informants (a chief), said that management of TC bananas is mostly relayed through farmer groups meaning that non-members lack this knowledge which contributes greatly to the lack of adoption of the variety.

Farmers' Perceptions on EAMDA's Banana Interventions

The study sought to explore the farmers' perceptions concerning the intervention and specific information on the number of farmers who attended the EAMDA training sessions, the training received, changes in farmers' income after the intervention, specific barriers faced by farmers who had not adopted TC varieties at all and whether adopters passed information to non-adopters.

In the treatment groups, the lowest number of members trained in a group was 4, while the highest was 40. Notably, 7 groups (64%) had more women in comparison to men. The primary criterion determining which family members would attend the training sessions was availability. This is attributed to the EAMDA's adherence to on-farm trainings, a scenario that narrows the gender gap in access to information, usually due to gender related factors such as household chores. It should be noted that training sessions were only offered to members in farmer groups and non-members were thus not trained.

When asked if adopters passed on information to non-adopters, some group leaders indicated that plans were underway to start such initiatives, a sentiment affirmed by another key informant (a chief). The study also noted that various marginalized persons received training since 81.8% of the groups had incorporated elderly members while 27.3% had disabled persons who were trained.

All trained farmers agreed that the EAMDA intervention had helped them better market. They mentioned that the EAMDA had given them contacts of for potential buyers and they had also been provided with marketing insights. The changes experienced by farmers concerning the income from modern and TC banana varieties after EMDA intervention were also explored. The trained farmers noted that though they adopted TC banana varieties expecting an increase in income, this was not realized. When asked why their income dropped, farmers who adopted TC bananas stated that it was caused by the severe drought experienced during this period and the negative impact it had on the yield of TC bananas which require a lot of water. The decrease in yield thus led to a drop in income.

Most groups (63.6%) were trained in 2016 and the rest (36.4%) in 2017, while the length of the training sessions varied from one to three days. All trained groups mentioned that they were trained on different aspects of banana husbandry such as planting, weeding and desuckering; orchard management; pest and disease control; and marketing information. All trained groups (100%) agreed that the trainings addressed their agricultural needs regarding banana production and marketing in various aspects such as post harvesting techniques, better marketing skills, modern and TCB management, and disease identification and control. All trained farmers indicated that they replaced some traditional banana varieties with modern and TC varieties. However, only 45% of those interviewed noted that they had expanded the area allocated to planting modern and TC varieties, whereas the remaining 55% said they were not planning to expand. As documented earlier, those who were not planning to expand mentioned limited land size and shortage of irrigation water as the major barriers.

With regards to sharing information with each other, both groups of farmers (treatment and control) acknowledged that farmer to farmer visits were paramount. All the farmers in both groups (100%), specified that farmer to farmer visits were the most frequent means of sharing information within the community, followed by group meetings, (54.4% of the control groups and 75% of treatment groups respectively). Moreover, 27.3% farmers in treatment groups and 50% of farmers in the control groups stated that banana farming knowledge was relayed to interested members of their households.

Results show that farmers in the area studied have many sources of knowledge on banana farming which is shared amongst neighbours. This scenario contrasts with other research findings, for example Miriti (2011), which revealed that most farmers could not adopt TC bananas due to lack of information. It can be argued that though access to knowledge of banana cultivation is not a barrier to be overcome, there is a need to ensure that farmers have the right information. This will guarantee that other producers (e.g., neighbours), get the correct information especially on disease control which can be disastrous if conducted incorrectly.

Since farmers in both treatment and control groups affirmed that they received training on post-harvesting (which is important to reduce wastage), the study sought to explore their understanding of this. In both treatment and control groups, results revealed that the most frequently used criteria to sort bananas were banana variety and size and shape of banana fingers. Notably, all farmers in control groups mentioned the three methods, but there were marginal variations among those in treatment groups. Looking at the shape of bananas was mentioned by 90.9% of farmers in treatment groups, followed by banana variety (81.8%), and size of fingers (72.7%). Pests and disease damage were also mentioned by the same proportion of farmers in both groups, (45.5% of farmers in treatment groups and 50% of farmers in control groups). A few farmers
mentioned that they also considered the colour of mature fingers (9.1% in treatment groups and 25% in control groups).

Challenges in Banana Production and Marketing

The study sought to determine the challenges that farmers in both treatment and control groups face in producing and marketing bananas. The most significant challenges mentioned by farmers in the treatment groups were a lack of irrigation water and the high cost of inputs (72.7% each respectively). On the other hand, all farmers in the control groups mentioned bad roads during wet weather as the most severe challenge, followed by lack of irrigation water (75%). Compared to the treatment groups, only a few (25%) farmers in the control groups mentioned high input costs as a significant challenge. However, brokers were a problem for both groups of farmers (45.5% of those in treatment groups and 50% of the those in control groups).

Results reveal that farmers in both groups are facing similar challenges. Research has shown that bad roads are one of the most critical constraints, especially during marketing of ripe bananas that are prone to a lot of damage during transportation; (Indimuli, 2013; Thuo et al., 2017; Miriti, 2011). This calls for the county government to provide sustainable infrastructure such as all-weather roads as well as sustainable irrigation. Equally, providence of low interest credits and secured markets is essential for sustainable production and marketing of banana and other horticulture products.

8. Discussion

This report looks at the midline (6-8 months), endline 1 (18-20 months) and endline 2 (32-33 months) effects of a farmers' training program that promoted banana cultivation, use of TCB plantlets and improved farming practices. We find that the training increased the likelihood of farmers cultivating bananas at endline 2 while there was no significant shift to banana cultivation at midline and endline 1. The training has shown effects on the amount of land the farmers used for banana cultivation at midline, and the effects increased by a substantial margin by endline 2. We also find significant lagged effect on their choice of adopting TCB plantlets. At midline, the effect size on TCB adoption was only around 4pp or about 33% higher compared to control mean. By 32 months at endline 2, the impact has increased substantially (by almost 30pp compared to 4pp at midline). Similarly, we find significant effects of the training on cultivation practices (weeding and fertilizer use) at endline 2 although we did not find any impact on cultivation at midline or endline 1.

These effects on technology adoption correspond to positive effects on banana production, yield and income from bananas at endline. At endline 2, the training increased banana production by over 350kg per farmer and banana productivity by over 1,200 kg per acre on average. These are substantial effects when compared to the control group averages at baseline. The average effect on bananas sold is of similar magnitude as the increase in production, which indicates that the majority of the additional bananas grown were marketed. The impact estimate of banana revenue at endline 2 is about Ksh 7,000 (USD 70), which is about 200% higher than the control group mean. Although we observed a positive point estimate at endline 1 on revenue from banana sales, the impact estimates were not consistently significant. This changed by endline 2 when the impacts on marketing and revenue were significantly higher than the control groups.

These positive effects, however, have not yet translated into better wellbeing of the households in terms of per capita consumption. This lack of impact on household wellbeing can partially be explained by the fact that households were earning less income from non-banana crops. In fact, there was a negative impact on total household income at midline because of the redistribution of land to banana plants from other crops. This negative effect was almost entirely driven by reduction in their income from non-banana crops. This short-term negative effect had disappeared at the endline 1 as some farmers started harvesting from their new plantations. However, farmers in the treatment group are yet to have any gain in their total income from their adoption.

Besides the training, we also tested a behavioural intervention of goal setting. Although we found significant marginal effect of this add on intervention at midline and endline 1 on technology adoption (especially on use of TCB), after the large lagged effect of training at endline 2, there is no significant difference between farmers with/without the goal setting component in TCB adoption, cultivation practices or other downstream outcomes. Since the goal setting intervention is designed to address farmers' procrastination, it is understandable that the effects are visible only in the short run. In terms of impact heterogeneity, neither the gender of farmers (female vs. male) nor the amount of land they managed made any differences to the outcomes obtained. There is also no differential impact by access to credit to support possible credit constraint. However, access to irrigation is found to be an important determinant of the amount of land used for banana cultivation.

The study also assessed spillover effects of the training on farmers who reside in the intervention villages but were not invited to the training. At endline 1, we observed weak signs of spillover effects on the amount of land used for banana cultivation, total banana production and yield. The effects on the spillover sample had become more visible by endline 2, especially on cultivation of modern varieties and banana sales. Overall, the results suggest strong learning effects on both treated and non-treated farmers in treatment villages from the early adopters.

9. Specific findings for policy and practice

The evaluation has demonstrated that training farmers on the benefits of TCB can influence them to adopt the technology. However, the benefits from this technology adoption, in terms of additional income to the farmers, are not yet fully established. The trend observed between midline and endline 1 suggested that positive effects on income would be possible in the future as farmers start harvesting the full benefit of the new technology. Although we found that farmers are on average getting more income from bananas compared to the control group at endline 2, there is still no significant increase in income. In fact, the point estimates are negative although not statistically significant. Part of the reason for not realizing higher total household income is reallocation of more land to banana cultivation between endline 1 and 2, resulting in lower income from nonbanana crops. While an impact on total household income remains a possibility in future, there are important risks such as preventing crop loss from disease. However, if we consider only the income from bananas and banana productivity, the intervention is highly successful. The lack of impact on total income at endline 1 and 2, and the negative impact at midline demonstrate the need for measuring the effects of any new technology promotion policy on farmers' total income. While it seems somewhat obvious

that total income is the ultimate outcome for any technology dissemination policy, a review of agriculture extension and innovation evaluations notes that only a small fraction go beyond the measures of adoption and productivity of the promoted technology (Lopez-Avila et al, 2017).

Drawing on behavioural sciences, we tested the effectiveness of a simple intervention that nudges farmers to translate their intention to adopt a technology into action. We found that such a nudge (which removes the mental blocks of a farmer in planning for and taking actions) can be effective in the short to medium term. This is similar to a study in Kenya by Duflo et al. (2011) which showed that creating a commitment device to buy fertilizer can reduce procrastination and increase fertilizer use by the farmers. This has strong practical implications on various farmers' field school and training programs that promote new technology adoption. These initiatives can improve their effectiveness by introducing a planning session that helps the farmers to think through the details of the decisions they have to make in order to convert their intentions into actions.

The effects found in this evaluation have low economic significance, especially after considering the cost of the interventions. While the training was successful in influencing the farmers to shift to banana cultivation as well as achieve a lagged effect, this shift has not translated into higher income for the farmers. Although it is possible to yield more economic benefits due to the higher productivity and disease resistance of TCB, the evaluation period clearly shows the increase is banana income is offset by reduction in income from other crops. The project was implemented at a cost of over USD 450,000 (Annex I). Since the project reached additional beneficiaries beyond the sample, the unit cost of training per farmer could not be established. Nonetheless, the economic benefits during the evaluation period are too minor given the intervention costs.

Various agricultural extension programs often assume demonstration and spillover effects for their cost effectiveness. However, this research shows that such spillover effects can take time to materialize. Any agricultural policy that intends to achieve faster adoption needs to consider the possibility of slow spillover effects. It is also important to note that the findings of spillover effects in this study is specific to TCB adoption. The pace of demonstration effects can vary substantially by the nature of the technology and various other contextual factors that need to be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Appendix A: Supplementary Analysis

	Model1	Model2
Training	-0.004(0.016)	-0.236(0.079)***
Training + Goal setting	0.018(0.018)	-0.067(0.085)
Spillover	-0.007(0.013)	-0.200(0.075)***
Control	No	Yes
Control X treatment groups	No	Yes
Constant	0.112 (0.010)***	0.017(0.049)
F-stat of interactions (Training)		2.75(p=0.005)
F-stat of interactions (Training + GS)		1.31(p=0.240)
F-stat of interactions (Spillover)		2.79(p=0.005)
Observations	4,719	4,719
R-squared	0.001	0.037

Table A1: Test of differential attrition across sample groups at endline 2

Note: Variables used for baseline determinants of attrition include gender, age and education of the respondent farmer, household size, number of plots owned by the household, number of rooms in the house, access to electricity, ownership of livestock, access to cash saving, access to radio and television. F-test shows the joint significance test of the interaction terms of these characteristics with treatment assignments.

		Difference with control group			
		Training +			-
	Control mean	Spillover	Training	Goal setting	F-test
Panel A: Household characteri					
Household size	2.84(0.06)	0.08(0.08)	0.06(0.09)	0.14(0.09)	0.788
Gender of the respondent					
(1=Male)	0.75(0.01)	0.01(0.02)	-0.00(0.02)	0.01(0.02)	0.197
Age of the respondent	50.00(0.50)	-0.43(-0.68)	-0.23(0.77)	0.67(0.84)	0.950
Respondent education (1=					
Post-primary)	0.50(0.02)	-0.02(0.03)	-0.02(0.03)	-0.04(0.04)	0.430
Access to land (Acres)	1.36(0.07)	-0.03(0.09)	-0.01(0.09)	-0.00(0.09)	0.084
Number of rooms used	3.70(0.09)	-0.08(0.11)	-0.08(0.11)	-0.06(0.12)	0.214
Have electricity (1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.47(0.04)	-0.08(0.05)	-0.09(0.05)*	-0.09(0.05)*	1.343
Have goats (1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.57(0.02)	0.01(0.03)	-0.01(0.03)	0.05(0.03)	1.900
Have radio (1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.91(0.01)	0.00(0.01)	0.01(0.01)	0.01(0.02)	0.273
Have TV (1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.42(0.03)	-0.07(0.04)*	-0.09(0.04)**	-0.09(0.04)**	1.654
Have savings (1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.03(0.01)	-0.01(0.01)	0.00(0.01)	0.01(0.01)	3.587
Panel B: Outcome					
Cultivated banana (1=Yes; 0 =					
No)	0.74(0.04)	-0.05(0.05)	-0.04(0.05)	-0.05(0.05)	0.317
Land used for banana (in acres)	0.15(0.01)	0.01(0.02)	0.01(0.02)	0.00(0.01)	0.307
Money spent on banana (in					
Ksh)	989 (113)	-48 (140)	5 (149)	-67 (150)	0.413
Did weeding for banana				. ,	
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.60(0.04)	-0.04(0.05)	-0.05(0.05)	-0.07(0.05)	0.794
Hired labour for weeding					
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.20(0.03)	-0.02(0.03)	-0.00(0.03)	-0.02(0.03)	0.339
Used fertilizer for banana					
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.53(0.04)	0.00(0.05)	-0.01(0.05)	-0.04(0.05)	1.089
Used pesticides for banana					
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.39(0.04)	-0.03(0.05)	-0.02(0.05)	-0.02(0.05)	0.099
Used purchased plantlet					
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.10(0.01)	-0.01(0.02)	-0.01(0.02)	-0.01(0.02)	0.189
Amount of banana produced (in					
kg)	736 (60)	-100(77)	-30(85)	-37(82)	1.110
	. ,	-1,085	. ,	. ,	
Banana yield (kg per acre)	4,941(391)	(493)**	-482(563)	-591(557)	2.409*
Sold banana on contract		-			
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.01(0.00)	-0.00(0.00)	-0.00(0.00)	0.00(0.01)	0.931
Amount of banana sold (in kg)	515(47)	10(60)	56 (68)	22(65)	0.593
Revenue from banana sales (in					
Ksh)	4,568(448)	229 (584)	888(737)	576 (678)	0.637
Total income (in Ksh)	54,955(3,864)	-5,800(4,722)	518(5,819)	-10,591(5,196)**	4.127**
Income from non-banana crops	. ,	. ,		. ,	
(in Ksh)	28,241(3,589)	-4,744(4,206)	-3,913(4,507)	-7,363(4,163)*	1.912
Income from non-crops (in Ksh)	25,149(2,239)	-2,674(2,808)	2,788(3,669)	-5,123(3,181)	3.165**
Respondent is time consistent	0.73(0.02)	0.04(0.03)	0.04(0.03)	0.05(0.03)	0.965
Respondent is risk averse	、 <i>/</i>	、 ,	. ,	. ,	
(1=Yes; 0 = No)	0.57(0.02)	0.01(0.03)	0.02(0.03)	0.04(0.03)	0.581
Note: *, ** and *** significant at	. ,				

Table A2: Balance in baseline of households in baseline and endline2 panel

Note: *, ** and *** significant at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. Statistical test of mean comparisons is conducted by clustering errors at village level, which is the unit of randomization.

	Cultivated banana	Cultivated modern variety	Used Tissue culture banana	Land used for banana	Money spent on banana
	0.180	0.296	0.304	0.076	-44.958
Training * Endline2	(0.041)***	(0.051)***	(0.043)***	(0.015)***	(102.251)
	-0.033	0.038	0.026	0.004	-47.576
Training * Endline1	(0.043)	(0.043)	(0.031)	(0.011)	(113.054)
Training (Midline	0.011	0.018	0.048	0.024	279.795
impact)	(0.039)	(0.048)	(0.022)**	(0.011)**	(94.507)***
	0.132	0.254	0.250	0.065	58.531
Goal setting * Endline2	(0.040)***	(0.045)***	(0.044)***	(0.012)***	(96.961)
	-0.038	0.040	0.092	0.016	59.751
Goal setting * Endline1	(0.042)	(0.039)	(0.034)***	(0.011)	(111.189)
Goal setting (Midline	0.053	0.059	0.038	0.025	177.435
impact)	(0.040)	(0.047)	(0.020)*	(0.010)**	(83.967)**
	0.046	0.059	0.032	-0.008	-260.518
Spillover * Endline2	(0.044)	(0.050)	(0.038)	(0.013)	(92.471)***
	-0.031	-0.006	-0.016	-0.003	-207.093
Spillover * Endline1	(0.040)	(0.039)	(0.027)	(0.009)	(97.310)**
Spillover (Midline	0.018	0.040	0.018	0.025	266.512
impact)	(0.042)	(0.049)	(0.022)	(0.011)**	(94.036)***
	-0.009	-0.059	0.126	-0.003	-300.843
Endline2 dummy	(0.031)	(0.037)	(0.021)***	(0.009)	(49.275)***
	0.077	0.017	0.091	0.006	-131.121
Endline1 dummy	(0.034)**	(0.030)	(0.016)***	(0.007)	(57.862)**
	0.036			0.148	0.070
Baseline value of Y	(0.022)			(0.014)***	(0.008)***
	0.734	0.630	0.107	0.114	440.057
Constant	(0.039)***	(0.038)***	(0.014)***	(0.008)***	(53.785)***
Observations	12,715	12,715	12,715	12,715	12,715
R-squared	0.020	0.029	0.087	0.067	0.037
Training = GS (Midline)	0.0313	0.121	0.555	0.924	0.178
Training = GS (Endline					
1)	0.856	0.923	0.0149	0.131	0.231
Training = GS (Endline					
2)	0.0466	0.170	0.0649	0.350	0.177
Control mean (Midline)	.777	.656	.126	.155	676
Control mean (Endline					
1)	.832	.683	.231	.163	475
Control mean (Endline					
2)	.832	.705	.351 ively Errors clus	.171	284

Table A3: Endline2, endline and midline impacts on banana cultivation

Note: *, ** and *** significant at 10%, 5% and 1% respectively. Errors clustered at village level.

	Did weeding for banana	Hired labour for weeding banana	Used fertilizer for banana	Used pesticides for banana
	0.189	0.016	0.224	0.048
Training * Endline2	(0.049)***	(0.050)	(0.046)***	(0.051)
	0.032	-0.082	-0.010	-0.027
Training * Endline 1	(0.053)	(0.054)	(0.052)	(0.046)
	-0.021	0.069	-0.025	0.010
Training (Midline impact)	(0.044)	(0.037)*	(0.039)	(0.049)
	0.135	0.029	0.190	0.065
Goal setting * Endline2	(0.051)***	(0.054)	(0.049)***	(0.050)
	0.019	-0.071	0.020	0.017
Goal setting * Endline 1	(0.054)	(0.053)	(0.056)	(0.046)
	0.021	0.053	-0.028	-0.017
Goal setting (Midline impact)	(0.045)	(0.037)	(0.041)	(0.051)
	0.068	-0.070	0.107	0.016
Spillover * Endline2	(0.053)	(0.047)	(0.041)***	(0.046)
	0.012	-0.105	-0.015	0.014
Spillover * Endline 1	(0.046)	(0.051)**	(0.048)	(0.045)
	-0.001	0.070	-0.052	0.009
Spillover (Midline impact)	(0.046)	(0.037)*	(0.037)	(0.054)
	-0.120	0.050	-0.156	-0.196
Endline 2 dummy	(0.035)***	(0.033)	(0.030)***	(0.035)***
	-0.044	0.087	0.059	-0.020
Endline 1 dummy	(0.038)	(0.041)**	(0.039)	(0.033)
	0.036	0.046	0.049	0.155
Baseline value of Y	(0.016)**	(0.014)***	(0.013)***	(0.020)***
	0.652	0.263	0.529	0.412
Constant	(0.040)***	(0.026)***	(0.030)***	(0.039)***
Observations	12,715	12,715	12,715	12,715
R-squared	0.009	0.006	0.019	0.049
Training = GS (Midline)	0.0421	0.548	0.912	0.287
Training = GS (Endline 1)	0.636	0.769	0.376	0.203
Training = GS (Endline 2)	0.096	0.757	0.350	0.611
Control mean (Midline)	.672	.316	.529	.475
Control mean (Endline 1)	.641	.342	.585	.458
Control mean (Endline 2)	.627	.348	.475	.301

	Amount of banana produced (in kg)	Banana yield (per acre)
	284.517	873.133
Training * Endline2	(53.050)***	(280.211)***
	107.589	205.256
Training * Endline 1	(55.406)*	(296.773)
	84.229	295.174
Training (Midline impact)	(48.556)*	(289.989)
	247.711	973.211
Goal setting * Endline2	(45.666)***	(281.923)***
	129.628	451.760
Goal setting * Endline 1	(46.403)***	(296.192)
	95.949	261.758
Goal setting (Midline impact)	(45.911)**	(293.639)
	20.609	455.670
Spillover * Endline2	(46.007)	(223.973)**
	87.170	560.719
Spillover * Endline 1	(44.395)*	(264.420)**
•	44.124	-193.682
Spillover (Midline impact)	(40.752)	(225.114)
	-126.844	-909.130
Endline 2 dummy	(28.319)***	(132.484)***
	-53.407	-364.268
Endline 1 dummy	(29.205)*	(189.113)*
	0.092	0.015
Baseline value of Y	(0.009)***	(0.006)**
	312.820	2,467.302
Constant	(28.535)***	(163.363)***
Observations	12,715	12,715
R-squared	0.064	0.022
Training = GS (Midline)	0.707	0.852
Training = GS (Endline 1)	0.604	0.272
Training = GS (Endline 2)	0.398	0.633
Control mean (Midline)	423	2554
Control mean (Endline 1)	436	2488
Control mean (Endline 2)	385	2094

Table A5: Endline2, endline and midline impacts on banana production

	Sold	Amount of	Revenue	Log of Revenue
	banana on	banana sold	from banana	from banana
	contract	(kg)	sales (Ksh)	sales (Ksh)
	0.074	316.650	6,057.321	1.388
Training * Endline2	(0.021)***	(48.001)***	(778.711)***	(0.243)***
	0.022	101.992	1,804.807	0.270
Training * Endline 1	(0.008)***	(44.431)**	(684.492)***	(0.237)
	-0.009	59.943	840.130	0.165
Training (Midline impact)	(0.005)*	(40.245)	(577.694)	(0.234)
	0.066	266.396	5,113.677	1.145
Goal setting * Endline2	(0.018)***	(40.738)***	(664.206)***	(0.231)***
	0.022	113.273	2,237.183	0.373
Goal setting * Endline 1	(0.008)***	(42.806)***	(695.090)***	(0.242)
	-0.006	78.493	1,059.611	0.300
Goal setting (Midline impact)	(0.005)	(39.206)**	(573.616)*	(0.234)
	0.020	19.908	427.334	0.105
Spillover * Endline2	(0.007)***	(37.372)	(606.940)	(0.230)
	0.010	68.804	1,106.732	0.119
Spillover * Endline1	(0.005)*	(38.728)*	(600.193)*	(0.231)
	-0.008	30.108	548.465	0.172
Spillover (Midline impact)	(0.004)*	(33.037)	(499.336)	(0.233)
	-0.008	-98.619	-709.085	0.551
Endline2 dummy	(0.004)*	(23.690)***	(377.139)*	(0.165)***
	-0.009	-20.188	172.967	0.684
Endline1 dummy	(0.005)**	(27.010)	(424.072)	(0.194)***
	0.038	0.108	0.158	0.117
Baseline value of Y	(0.032)	(0.010)***	(0.014)***	(0.013)***
	0.011	234.166	3,582.301	5.818
Constant	(0.004)***	(23.731)***	(352.492)***	(0.202)***
Observations	12,715	12,715	12,715	12,715
R-squared	0.026	0.076	0.093	0.101
Training = GS (Midline)	0.468	0.486	0.581	0.268
Training = GS (Endline 1)	0.996	0.738	0.400	0.434
Training = GS (Endline 2)	0.545	0.216	0.153	0.084
Control mean (Midline)	.007	326	4877	6.64
Control mean (Endline 1)	.008	363	6071	7.46
Control mean (Endline 2)	.028	324	6052	7.62

Table A6: Endline2, endline and midline impacts on banana marketing

	Total income	Income from non- banana crops	Per capita monthly expenditure
	8,642.379	5,748.058	98.663
Training * Endline 2	(6,715.622)	(6,130.881)	(226.372)
	15,573.194	6,628.634	-213.081
Training * Endline 1	(6,711.518)**	(4,972.674)	(219.487)
	-13,884.298	-12,823.765	171.551
Training (Midline impact)	(5,989.541)**	(6,285.743)**	(179.680)
	7,015.806	4,408.718	53.263
Goal setting * Endline 2	(7,158.734)	(6,326.521)	(225.567)
	11,448.200	5,080.271	-100.317
Goal setting * Endline 1	(6,929.609)	(4,403.855)	(231.739)
	-16,347.028	-12,093.620	-68.688
Goal setting (Midline impact)	(6,423.542)**	(6,320.712)*	(195.275)
	-2,572.468	-1,649.171	-359.296
Spillover * Endline2	(6,548.368)	(5,590.777)	(225.404)
	4,330.748	405.924	-259.618
Spillover * Endline 1	(5,490.352)	(4,060.599)	(227.005)
	-7,484.568	-4,475.788	285.340
Spillover (Midline impact)	(6,089.385)	(6,815.956)	(192.544)
	-2,220.125	-238.962	-297.464
Endline 2 dummy	(4,240.764)	(3,068.504)	(165.002)*
	-581.724	-7,131.973	-174.949
Endline 1 dummy	(5,121.948)	(5,005.320)	(138.493)
	0.222	0.379	
Baseline value of Y	(0.017)***	(0.026)***	
	110,386.363	41,363.825	3,850.292
Constant	(4,854.695)***	(5,629.218)***	(134.031)***
Observations	12,715	12,715	12,715
R-squared	0.036	0.092	0.008
Training = GS (Midline)	0.561	0.772	0.0950
Training = GS (Endline 1)	0.400	0.585	0.445
Training = GS (Endline 2)	0.782	0.697	0.779
Control mean (Midline)	114879	45946	3965
Control mean (Endline 1)	118309	47617	3528
Control mean (Endline 2)	115455	39243	3690

Table A7: Endline2, endline and midline impacts on household income and expenditure

		Cultivated	Used Tissue	Land	Monoy
	Cultivated	modern	culture	Land	Money
	banana			used for	spent on
	0.400	variety	banana	banana	banana
T (F	0.190	0.289	0.352	0.106	189.397
Training (Endline2)	(0.045)***	(0.052)***	(0.073)***	(0.025)***	(116.574)
	0.149	0.186	0.179	0.074	67.852
Goal setting (Endline2)	(0.050)***	(0.064)***	(0.082)**	(0.014)***	(70.062)
	0.073	0.115	0.000	0.000	-128.706
Training (Endline2) * Male	(0.048)	(0.062)*	(0.082)	(0.026)	(116.411)
	0.089	0.204	0.154	0.024	116.293
Goal setting (Endline2) * Male	(0.055)	(0.074)***	(0.085)*	(0.021)	(105.755)
Training (Endline2) * Large	0.036	-0.033	-0.057	0.000	325.707
land	(0.070)	(0.107)	(0.117)	(0.040)	(310.393)
Goal setting (Endline2) *	0.066	0.197	0.161	0.023	148.498
Large land	(0.075)	(0.081)**	(0.111)	(0.032)	(121.367)
Training (Endline2) * Male *	-0.149	-0.113	0.065	0.004	-87.016
Large land	(0.084)*	(0.124)	(0.124)	(0.043)	(315.452)
Goal setting (Endline2) * Male	-0.101	-0.285	-0.157	0.026	14.466
* Large land	(0.088)	(0.102)***	(0.128)	(0.037)	(147.778)
	-0.087	-0.136	-0.074	-0.005	32.566
Male respondent	(0.040)**	(0.047)***	(0.036)**	(0.008)	(55.712)
	-0.041	-0.073	-0.048	0.070	82.649
Large land	(0.064)	(0.059)	(0.057)	(0.015)***	(57.005)
	0.106	0.198	0.101	-0.001	-19.353
Male * Large land	(0.075)	(0.078)**	(0.060)*	(0.016)	(78.349)
ŭ	0.033	. /	、 /	-0.013	0.015
Baseline value of Y	(0.032)			(0.006)**	(0.013)
	0.752	0.624	0.265	0.107	123.772
Constant	(0.049)***	(0.038)***	(0.042)***	(0.007)***	(31.613)***
Observations	2,729	2,729	2,729	2,729	2,729
R-squared	0.096	0.144	0.124	0.135	0.039

 Table A8: Impact heterogeneity of banana cultivation by access to land and gender

Note: Large land is household with above median land sizes. Robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

	Cultivated banana 0.236	Cultivated modern variety 0.331	Used Tissue culture banana 0.363	Land used for banana 0.113	Money spent on banana 267,140
Training (Endline2)	(0.037)***	(0.038)***	(0.050)***	(0.017)***	(104.258)**
Goal setting	0.216	0.333	0.315	0.110	219.148
(Endline2)	(0.037)***	(0.033)***	(0.047)***	(0.016)***	(65.096)***
Training (Endline2)	-0.121	-0.110	-0.122	-0.021	-137.749
* Loan	(0.070)*	(0.085)	(0.114)	(0.034)	(114.534)
Goal setting	-0.025	-0.030	-0.038	0.040	50.103
(Endline2) * Loan	(0.050)	(0.060)	(0.081)	(0.033)	(154.082)
	0.066	0.027	-0.004	0.010	-19.025
Loan	(0.046)	(0.044)	(0.041)	(0.013)	(55.719)
	0.032			0.004	0.025
Baseline value of Y	(0.030)			(0.007)	(0.013)*
	0.696	0.554	0.224	0.127	171.263
Constant	(0.049)***	(0.029)***	(0.028)***	(0.010)***	(35.871)***
Observations	2,729	2,729	2,729	2,729	2,729
R-squared	0.092	0.132	0.120	0.094	0.020

Table A9: Impact heterogeneity of banana cultivation by baseline access to loan

Note: Robust standard errors clustered at village level in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Table A10: Impact heterogeneity of banana cultivation by baseline access to
irrigation

	Cultivated banana	Cultivated modern variety	Used Tissue culture banana	Land used for banana	Money spent on banana
/	0.215	0.287	0.306	0.079	128.760
Training (Endline2)	(0.035)***	(0.044)***	(0.052)***	(0.015)***	(60.404)**
	0.213	0.317	0.274	0.092	133.009
Goal setting (Endline2)	(0.035)***	(0.035)***	(0.052)***	(0.015)***	(50.330)***
Training (Endline2) *	0.005	0.081	0.104	0.085	312.049
Irrigation	(0.043)	(0.048)*	(0.072)	(0.025)***	(220.772)
Goal setting (Endline2) *	-0.018	0.028	0.088	0.056	223.751
Irrigation	(0.042)	(0.042)	(0.074)	(0.027)**	(127.948)*
	0.045	0.032	0.092	0.033	183.673
Irrigation	(0.039)	(0.034)	(0.034)***	(0.012)***	(58.318)***
	0.034			0.004	0.021
Baseline value of Y	(0.031)			(0.006)	(0.013)
	0.693	0.549	0.200	0.120	124.166
Constant	(0.045)***	(0.029)***	(0.028)***	(0.008)***	(27.528)***
Observations	2,729	2,729	2,729	2,729	2,729
R-squared	0.093	0.137	0.139	0.138	0.054

Appendix B: Survey instruments

For the three rounds of surveys, we used similar questionnaires. New questions were added to our baseline instrument when conducting the midline and endline 1 surveys. The endline 2 survey was significantly shorter in scope and focused on the key outcome areas. We are attaching the file containing the endline 1 questionnaire.



Appendix C: Pre-analysis plan

Our pre-analysis plan was prepared in October 2017 before we launched our midline survey. The file is attached here. The trial has also been registered at American Economic Association RCT registry (#AEARCTR-0002579).



Appendix D: Sample size and power calculations

Following is the power calculation narrative we used at stage of our study design.

"The power calculations of our evaluation will largely follow Spybrook et al (2011). We will adopt a two-stage sampling process. In the first stage, clusters (i.e., villages where farmer groups are located) will be randomly selected in treatment and control groups. In the second stage, households (i.e., farmers) from within these clusters will be selected. As noted above, there will be 20% to 100% of the farmers per FO who will take part in the training. Given there are, on average, 30 farmers in one farmer organization (FO), 16 farmers will on average be provided with training in the treatment clusters. The size of each cluster will be 16 (i.e., 16 households, on average, in each village). Since there will be at least six farmers from each FO in the 60 treatment villages who will receive training, and 30 villages in comparison group, there will be 90 villages

Apart from the above information, we also need estimates of the standardized effect size and intra-class correlation. We will use the effect size of 0.3 SD in our power calculations. The effect size of 0.3 SD was chosen by taking into account impact sizes on programs that can be compared with this. For example, if we consider graduation programs targeting ultra-poor farmers, one can argue that we are underestimating the effect size. On the other hand, microfinance programs show lower impact of the program. 10 However, as mentioned above, we believe this intervention to have higher take-up so larger impact.

We use statistics from the Kenyan Integrated Household Budget Survey 2005 to assume intra-cluster correlation in our study sites in Kenya. The within-village correlation of key outcome variables (such as total per-capita expenditure (PCE), PCE on food and total income) range from 0.15 to 0.22. Thus, considering intra-class correlation coefficients up to 0.20 seems reasonable.

The power computations based on the above inputs are calculated for our study. In general, we want to strive for a power value of 0.80 or higher which will be achievable by 89 villages. The power of the study will thus be at least 0.8. The power will be increased if the program impact is estimated to be more than 0.3 or the intra-class correlation is less than 0.2. Also note that the cluster level covariates are not taken into account; incorporating these covariates is a strategy for increasing the precision of the estimate and power (Spybrook et al, 2011).^{"11}

An important change between this power calculation and actual implementation took place after the baseline survey. Our proposed sampling was intended to distinguish between farmers who are FO members and non-members. The purpose was to measure spillover between the FO members who participate in training and non-members who do

¹¹ Attrition was not explicitly discussed in the original power calculations, partly because the change in power as a result of change in number of observations within clusters had minimal effect. For example, as mentioned in original power calculations, reducing the number of households in our study from 30 to 20 from each cluster reduced the power from 0.84 to 0.82. Since the attrition was relatively modest in our study, we do not feel attrition rate has serious implications on our study.

not participate. However, during our baseline we discovered that the implementation partner did not have the FOs established yet, and all our sample households were eligible for their intervention. This enabled us to randomize within village without making any distinction between FO member and non-members. The critical advantage for this adjustment of our evaluation design has been ensuring comparability between the treatment and control farmers in the treatment villages to have a proper spillover sample.

Appendix E: Implementation monitoring

We deployed 2 field supervisors and a research associate to conduct compliance monitoring during implementation. Summary of their weekly reports are attached here.



Compliance tracking.zip

Appendix F: Qualitative assessment

We conducted a qualitative assessment before the endline survey. This report was done by our research team with support from an expert in qualitative methods.



Appendix G: Midline impact paper

The paper from the panel data after the midline survey is attached here





Appendix H: Map of study location

Zoomed image of four neighbouring villages



1=training only, 2=Training + goal setting, 3=Spillover, 4=Control

Appendix I: Cost data for the programme implementation



Appendix J: .do files.

For results at endline 1



For results at endline 2

References

ANDERSON, MICHAEL. L. (2008). Multiple Inference and Gender Differences in the Effects of Early Intervention: A Reevaluation of the Abecedarian, Perry Preschool, and Early Training Projects. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 103(484), 1481–1495. https://doi.org/10.1198/01621450800000841

BANERJEE, ABHIJIT, KARLAN, D. S., & ZINMAN, J. (2015). *Six Randomized Evaluations of Microcredit: Introduction and Further Steps*. American Economic Association. http://hdl.handle.net/1721.1/95940.

D'ALESSANDRO, S. P., CABALLERO, J., LICHTE, J. & SIMPKIN, S. (2015). *Kenya: Agricultural Sector Risk Assessment*. Agriculture global practice technical assistance paper, World Bank, Washington, DC.

DUFLO E., KREMER M., & ROBINSON J. (2011). Nudging farmers to use fertilizer: Theory and experimental evidence from Kenya. *American Economic Review*. 101, 2350-2390.

IMBENS, G. W., & WOOLDRIDGE, J. M. (2009). Recent Developments in the Econometrics of Program Evaluation. *Journal of Economic Literature*. 47, 5-86.

IMRAN R., & ORIANA B. (n.d.). *Social Networks and Technology Adoption in Northern Mozambique*. CEPR Discussion Papers. Centre for Economic Policy Research CEPR. https://resolver.ebscohost.com/Redirect/PRL?EPPackageLocationID=2722799.1532541 4.34808953&epcustomerid=s3011414.

INDIMULI, R (2013). Factors Influencing the Discontinuance in Adoption of Tissue Culture Banana Technology: A Study of Smallholder Farmers in Maragwa District. MA. Thesis. University of Nairobi.

KABUNGA, N., DUBOIS, T. and QAIM, M. (2012) Heterogeneous information exposure and technology adoption: the case of tissue culture bananas in Kenya, *Agricultural Economics*, vol. 43(5): 473-486

KNBS (2015) County statistical abstract: Kirinyaga county, Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, Nairobi

KPHC (2019) Kenya population and housing census: Distribution of population by socioeconomic characteristics, KNBS, Nairobi.

LOPEZ-AILA, DIANA, HUSAIN, S., BHATIA, R., NATH, M. & VINAYGYAM, R. M. (2017) Agriculture Innovation: An Evidence Gap Map, Evidence Gap Map Report 12, 3ie

MIRITI, C. (2011). Gender Responsive Strategies Employed In Banana Production And Marketing In Imenti South District, Meru County. MA. Thesis. Kenyatta University, Kenya.

RAUDENBUSH, S.W., SPYBROOK, J., CONGDON, R., LIU, X., MARTINEZ, A., BLOOM, H., & HILL, C. (2011). Optimal Design Plus Empirical Evidence (Version 3.0)

REPUBLIC OF KENYA. (2015). *Kenya Vision 2030: Horticulture Validated Report:* Ministry of Planning and National Development Government

REPUBLIC OF KENYA (2012). *Agriculture Sector Development Strategy* (ASDS) 2010-2012 Nairobi: Ministry of Agriculture.

REPUBLIC OF KENYA. (2012). National Horticulture Policy.

SNILSTVEIT, B., VOJTKOVA, M., BHAVSAR, A., & GAARDER, M. (2014). *Evidence Gap Maps A Tool for Promoting Evidence-Informed Policy and Prioritizing Future Research*. Washington, DC, World Bank. http://hdl.handle.net/10986/16941.

SURI, T. (2010). *Selection and comparative advantage in technology adoption*. Cambridge, MA, National Bureau of Economic Research.

THUO C., NGULUU, S., KISANGAU, PATRICK (2017). Socio-Economics Factors Affecting Adoption of Tissue Culture Bananas in the Semi-Arid Areas of Lower Eastern Region of Kenya. International Journal of Life Sciences Research ISSN 2348-3148 (online) Vol. 5, Issue 3, pp: (164-172), Month: July - September 2017

WORLD BANK (2019) "Unbundling the Slack in Private Sector Investment: *Transforming Agriculture Sector Productivity and Linkages to Poverty Reduction.*" Kenya Economic Update: April 2019, Edition 19.

Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://3ieimpact.org/evidencehub/publications/impact-evaluations

Impact Evaluation of the ADN Dignidad Program: Understanding the impact of a Humanitarian Cash Transfer (HCT) program in Colombia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 137. Celhay, P, Martinez, S, 2023.

Community advocacy forums and public service delivery in Uganda: Impact and the role of information, deliberation and administrative placement, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 136. Campenhout, BV, Kabunga, N, Mogues, T and Miehe, C, 2021.

Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 134. Demilew, A, Girma, M, McElwee, E, Datta, S, Barofsky, J and Disasa, T, 2021.

Impacts of electronic case management systems on court congestion in the Philippines, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 133. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

Impacts of judicial reform in small claims procedures on court congestion in the Philippines, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 132. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

Impacts of judicial reform in criminal case procedures on court congestion in the Philippines, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 131. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

Impacts of the Stimulate, Appreciate, Learn and Transfer community engagement approach to increase immunization coverage in Assam, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 130. Pramanik, S, Ghosh, A, Goswami, A, Das, T, Albert, S, Forth, P and Nanda, R, 2020.

Impacts of a novel mHealth platform to track maternal and child health in Udaipur, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 129. Nagar, R, Ambiya, MS, Singh, P, Abdullah, H, Banshiwal, V, Stone, L, Manjanatha, D, Venkat, P, Purawat, D, Supatkar, V, Singh, A, Dalal, S and Shahnawaz, M, 2020.

Impact evaluation of the National Rural Livelihoods Project, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 128. Kochar, A, Barooah, B, Jain, C, Singh, G, Closepet, N, Narayanan, R, Sarkar, R and Shah, R, 2020.

Impacts of engaging communities through traditional and religious leaders on vaccination coverage in Cross River State, Nigeria, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 127. Oyo-Ita, A, Bosch-Capblanch, X, Ross, A, Hanlon, P, Oku, A, Esu, E, Ameh, S, Oduwole, B, Arikpo, D and Meremikwu, M, 2020.

Evaluating the impact of interventions to improve full immunisation rates in Haryana, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 126. Banerjee, A, Chandrasekhar, A, Duflo, E, Dalpath, S, Floretta, J, Jackson, M, Kannan, H, Schrimpf, A and Shrestha, M, 2020.

Impacts of community-led video education to increase vaccination coverage in Uttar Pradesh, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 125. Gurley, N, Shearer, J, Srivastava, Y, Mahapatra, S and Desmond, M, 2020.

Impact of creative capacity building of local innovators and communities on income, welfare and attitudes in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 124. Nkonya, E, Bashaasha, B, Kato, E, Bagamba, F and Danet, M, 2020.

Impact evaluation of the integrated soil fertility management dissemination programme in *Burkina Faso*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 123. A, Frölich, M, Koussoubé, E, Maïga, E and Varejkova, T, 2020.

The effect of demonstration plots and the warehouse receipt system on integrated soil fertility management *adoption, yield and income of smallholder farmers: a study from Malawi's Anchor Farms*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 122. Michelson, H, Barrett, C, Palm, C, Maertens, A, Mhango, W and Chirwa, E, 2020.

Impacts of linking savings group to formal financial service providers and strengthening their internal group insurance mechanism in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 121. Frölich, M and Nguyen, PL, 2020.

Promoting latrine use in rural Karnataka using the risks, attitudes, norms, abilities and self-regulation (RANAS) approach, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 120. Friedrich, M, Balasundaram, T, Muralidharan, A, Raman, VR and Mosler, H-J, 2020.

Impacts of low-cost interventions to improve latrine use and safe disposal of child faeces in rural Odisha, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 119. Caruso, BA, Sclar, GD, Routray, P, Nagel C, Majorin, F, Sola, S, Koehne, W, DeShay, R, Udaipuria, S, Williams, R and Clasen, T, 2020.

Improving households' attitudes and behaviours to increase toilet use (HABIT) in Bihar, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 118. Viswanathan, S, Saith, R, Chakraborty, A, Purty, N, Malhotra, N, Singh, P, Mitra, P, Padmanabhan, V, Datta, S, Harris, J, Gidwani, S, Williams, R, Florence, E and Daniel, S, 2020.

Rebuilding the social compact: urban service delivery and property taxes in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 117. Khwaja, AI, Haq, O, Khan, AQ, Olken, B and Shaukat, M, 2020.

Rural institutional innovation: can village courts in Bangladesh accelerate access to justice and improve socio-economic outcomes? 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 116. Mattsson, M and Mobarak, AM, 2020.

Using big data to evaluate the impacts of transportation infrastructure investment: the case of subway systems in Beijing, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 115. Li, S and Liu, Y, 2020.

Community toilet use in Indian slums: willingness-to-pay and the role of informational and supply side constraints, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 113. Armand, A, Augsburg, B, Bancalari A and Trivedi B, 2020.

Impacts, maintenance and sustainability of irrigation in Rwanda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 112. Byiringo, E, Jones M, Kondylis F, Loeser J, Magruder, J and Ndahimana, C, 2020.

Continuous Emissions Monitoring Systems (CEMS) in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 111. Greenstone, M, Pande, R, Ryan, N and Sudarshan A, 2020.

Evaluating the impacts of the Dar es Salaam Bus Rapid Transit System, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 110. Morten, M, Bryan, G, Siddiqi, B, Balboni, C, 2020.

Access to safe drinking water: experimental evidence from new water sources in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 109. Cocciolo, S, Ghisolfi, S, Habib, A, Rashid, SMA and Tompsett, A, 2020.

Impact of alternate wetting and drying on farm incomes and water savings in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 108. Chakravorty, U, Dar, MH, Emerick, K, 2020.

The effects of vouchers for essential household items on child health, mental health, resilience and social cohesion among internally displaced persons in the Democratic *Republic of Congo*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 107. Quattrochi, J, Bisimwa, G, Thompson, T, van der Windt, P and Voors, M, 2020.

Measuring impacts of conservation interventions on human well-being and the environment in Northern Cambodia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 106. Clements, T, Neang, M, Milner-Gulland, EJ and Travers, H, 2020.

The 5 Star Toilet Campaign: improving toilet use in rural Gujarat, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 105. Chauhan, K, Schmidt, WP, Aunger, R, Gopalan, B, Saxena, D, Yashobant, S, Patwardhan, V, Bhavsar, P, Mavalankar, D and Curtis, V, 2020.

How education about maternal health risk can change the gender gap in the demand for family planning in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 104. Ashraf, N, Field, E, Voena, A and Ziparo, R, 2019.

In search of the holy grail: can unconditional cash transfers graduate households out of poverty in Zambia?, Impact Evaluation Report 103. Handa, S, Tembo, G, Natali, L, Angeles, G and Spektor, G, 2019.

Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in Uganda, Impact Evaluation Report 102. Wanyenze, R, Buregyeya, E, Matovu, J, Kisa, R, Kagaayi, J, Vrana-Diaz, C, Malek, A, Musoke, W, Chemusto, H, Mukama, S and Korte, J, 2019.

Improving the quality of care for children with acute malnutrition in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 101. Marzia, L, Wanzira, H, Lochoro, P and Putoto, G, 2019.

Impacts of increasing community resilience through humanitarian aid in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 100. Avdeenko, A and Frölich, M, 2019.

Impacts of community monitoring of socio-environmental liabilities in the Ecuadorian and Peruvian Amazon, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 99. Pellegrini, L, 2019.

Increasing HIV testing demand among Kenyan truck drivers and female sex workers, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 98. Kelvin, E, George, G, Mwai, E, Kinyanjui, S, Inoti, S, Chetty, T, Strauss, M, Romo, M, Oruko, F, Odhiambo J, Nyaga, E, Mantell, J and Govender, K, 2019.

Impacts of community stakeholder engagement interventions in Ugandan oil extractives, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 97. Parker, R, Coleman, E, Manyindo, J, Schultz, B and Mukuru, E, 2019.

The impacts of formal registration of businesses in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 96. Campos, F, Goldstein, M and McKenzie, D, 2019.

Unpacking the determinants of entrepreneurship development and economic empowerment for women in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 95. McKenzie, D, Puerto, S and Odhiambo, F, 2019.

Impacts of key provisions in Ghana's Petroleum Revenue Management Act, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 94. Edjekumhene, I, Voors, M, Lujala, P, Brunnschweiler, C, Owusu, CK and Nyamekye, A, 2019.

Using information to break the political resource curse in natural gas management in Mozambique, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 93. Armand, A, Costa, AI, Coutts, A, Vicente, P and Vilela, I, 2019.

Harnessing transparency initiatives to improve India's environmental clearance process for the mineral mining sector, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 92. Pande, R and Sudarshan, A, 2019.

Impacts of removing user fees for maternal health services on universal health coverage in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 91. Abuya, T, Dennis, M, Matanda, D, Obare, F and Bellows, B, 2018.

Impact of voice reminders to reinforce harvest aggregation services training for farmers in Mali, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 90. Osei, RD, Dzanku, FM, Osei-Akoto, I, Asante, F, Hodey, LS, Adu, PN, Adu-Ababio, K and Coulibaly, M, 2018.

Impacts of Breakthrough's school-based gender attitude change programme in Haryana, India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 89. Jayachandran, S, Jain, T and Dhar, D, 2018.

Hotspot interventions at scale: the effects of policing and city services on crime in *Bogotá, Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 88. Blattman, C, Green, D, Ortega, D and Tobón, S, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the Philippine Special Program for Employment of Students, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 87. Beam, E, Linden, L, Quimbo, S and Richmond, H, 2018.

Community-based distribution of oral HIV self-testing kits: experimental evidence from Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 86. Hensen, B, Ayles, H, Mulubwa, C, Floyd, S, Schaap, A, Chiti, B, Phiri, M, Mwenge, L, Simwinga, M, Fidler S, Hayes, R, Bond, V and Mwinga, A, 2018.

Evaluating the economic impacts of rural banking: experimental evidence from southern India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 85. Field, E and Pande, R, 2018.

Direct provision versus facility collection of HIV tests: impacts of self-testing among female sex workers in Uganda. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 84. Ortblad, K, Musoke, DK, Ngabirano, T, Oldenburg, C and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

Increasing female sex worker HIV testing: effects of peer educators and HIV self-tests in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 83. Chanda, MM, Ortblad, KF, Mwale, M, Chongo, S, Kanchele, C, Kamungoma, N, Fullem, A, Bärnighausen, T and Oldenburg, CE, 2018.

Community delivery of antiretroviral drugs: a non-inferiority matched-pair pragmatic cluster-randomized trial in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 82. Francis, JM, Geldsetzer, P, Asmus, G, Ulenga, N, Ambikapathi, R, Sando, D, Fawzi, W and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

Nourishing the future: targeting infants and their caregivers to reduce undernutrition in rural China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 81. Cai, J, Luo, R, Li, H, Lien, J, Medina, A, Zhou, H and Zhang, L, 2018.

Impacts of the World Food Programme's interventions to treat malnutrition in Niger. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 80. Brück, T, Ferguson, NTN, Ouédraogo, J and Ziegelhöfer, Z, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the World Food Programme's moderate acute malnutrition treatment and prevention programmes in Sudan. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 79. Guevarra, E, Mandalazi, E, Balegamire, S, Albrektsen, K, Sadler, K, Abdelsalam, K, Urrea, G and Alawad, S, 2018.

Impact evaluation of WFP's programs targeting moderate acute malnutrition in humanitarian situations in Chad. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 78. Saboya, M, Rudiger, J, Frize, J, Ruegenberg, D, Rodríguez Seco, A and McMillon, C, 2018.

Improving midday meal delivery and encouraging micronutrient fortification among children in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 77. Shastry, GK, Berry, J, Mukherjee, P, Mehta, S and Ruebeck, H, 2018.

Evaluation of infant development centres: an early years intervention in Colombia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 76. Andrew, A, Attanasio, O, Bernal, R, Cordona, L, Krutikova, S, Heredia, DM, Medina, C, Peña, X, Rubio-Codina, M and Vera-Hernandez, M, 2018.

Can the wounds of war be healed? Experimental evidence on reconciliation in Sierra Leone. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 75. Cilliers, J, Dube, O and Siddiqi, B, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the Menabe and Melaky development programme in Madagascar, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 74. Ring, H, Morey, M, Kavanagh, E, Kamto, K, McCarthy, N, Brubaker, J and Rakotondrafara, C, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the Smallholder Dairy Commercialization Programme in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 73. Bonilla, J, McCarthy, N, Mugatha, S, Rai, N, Coombes, A and Brubaker, J, 2018.

Impact and adoption of risk-reducing drought-tolerant rice in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 72. Yamano, T, Dar, MH, Panda, A, Gupta, I, Malabayabas, ML and Kelly, E, 2018.

Poverty and empowerment impacts of the Bihar Rural Livelihoods Project in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 71. Hoffmann, V, Rao, V, Datta, U, Sanyal, P, Surendra, V and Majumdar, S 2018.

How should Tanzania use its natural gas? Citizens' views from a nationwide Deliberative *Poll*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 70. Birdsall, N, Fishkin, J, Haqqi, F, Kinyondo, A, Moyo, M, Richmond, J and Sandefur, J, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the conditional cash transfer program for secondary school attendance in Macedonia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 69. Armand, A and Carneiro, P, 2018.

Age at marriage, women's education, and mother and child outcomes in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 68. Field, E, Glennerster, R, Nazneen, S, Pimkina, S, Sen, I and Buchmann, N, 2018.

Evaluating agricultural information dissemination in western Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 67. Fabregas, R, Kremer, M, Robinson, J and Schilbach, F, 2017.

General equilibrium impact assessment of the Productive Safety Net Program in Ethiopia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 66. Filipski, M, Taylor, JE, Abegaz, GA, Ferede, T, Taffesse, AS and Diao, X, 2017.

Impact of the Uddeepan programme on child health and nutrition in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 65. Kochar, A, Sharma, A and Sharma, A, 2017.

Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 64. Kelvin, EA, Mwai, E, Romo, ML, George, G, Govender, K, Mantell, JE, Strauss, M, Nyaga, EN and Odhiambo, JO, 2017.

Integration of EPI and paediatric HIV services for improved ART initiation in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 63. Prescott, M, Boeke, C, Gotora, T, Mafaune, HW, Motsi, W, Graves, J, Mangwiro, A and McCarthy, E, 2017.

Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 62. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

Evaluating the impact of community health worker integration into prevention of motherto-child transmission of HIV services in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 61. Nance, N, McCoy, S, Ngilangwa, D, Masanja, J, Njau, P and Noronha, R, 2017.

Using HIV self-testing to promote male partner and couples testing in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 60. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Obonyo, B, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2017.

Increasing male partner HIV self-testing at antenatal care clinics in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 59. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

Impact of free availability of public childcare on labour supply and child development in Brazil, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 58. Attanasio, O, Paes de Barros, R, Carneiro, P, Evans, D, Lima, L, Olinto, P and Schady, N, 2017.

Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57. Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017.

The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian Midwives Service Scheme, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56. Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017.

The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, J, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016.

Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48. Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B, Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M, 2016. *Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45. Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B, 2016.

Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44. Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A, 2016.

Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM, 2016.

Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3*ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2016.

Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40. Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV, 2016.

Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39. Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A, 2016.

Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M, 2016.

Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37. Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E, 2016.

Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36. Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F, 2016.

Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C 2016.

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on *livelihoods, governance and forests*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C, 2016.

The effect of conditional transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from Northern Ecuador, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 33. Hidrobo, M, Peterman, A and Heise, L, 2016.

The effect of transfers and preschool on children's cognitive development in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 32. Gillian, DO and Roy, S, 2016.

Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R, 2015.

Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30. Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K, 2016.

Smallholder access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production decisions, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28. Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A, 2015.

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C and Özler, B, 2015.

Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E, 2015.

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G, 2015.

The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala, Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L, 2014.

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of *Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 23. Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R, 2015.

A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M, 2015.

Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R, 2015.

Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20. Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P, 2015.

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E, 2014.

Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015.

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults *in rural Nicaragua*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME, 2014.

The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M, 2014.

A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V, 2014.

Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S, 2014.

Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in *Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13. Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R, 2014.

Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12. Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R, 2014.

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B, 2014.

Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10. Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N, 2013.

No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K, 2013.

Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y, 2013.

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a communitydriven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P, 2013.

The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E, 2014.

Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5. Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M, 2014.

Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of *farmers? Evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A, 2013.

The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E, 2013.

A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI, 2012.

The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V, 2012.

In Kenya, the government and development partners have tried to increase banana cultivation by smallholder farmers to improve productivity and food security. One project, implemented by the East Africa Market Development Associates (EAMDA) targeted about 11,000 farmers in Kirinyaga county. The authors of this study used a randomized controlled trial (RCT) to measure the impacts of information-sharing and a goal-setting intervention on farmers' adoption of tissue culture banana (TCB), banana productivity and household income.

Impact Evaluation Series

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 306, 3rd Floor, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India

3ie@3ieimpact.org Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

www.3ieimpact.org





BILL& MELINDA

